Regular Article - Theoretical Physics

Coincident $f(\mathbb{Q})$ gravity: black holes, regular black holes, and black bounces

José Tarciso S. S. Junior^{1,a}, Manuel E. Rodrigues^{1,2,b}

¹ Faculdade de Física, Programa de pós-graduação em Física, Universidade Federal do Pará, Belém, Pará CEP 66075-110, Brazil

² Faculdade de Ciências Exatas e Tecnologia, Universidade Federal do Pará Campus Universitário de Abaetetuba, Abaetetuba, Pará 68440-000, Brazil

Received: 10 March 2023 / Accepted: 22 May 2023 / Published online: 6 June 2023 \circledcirc The Author(s) 2023

Abstract In this paper, we will use the coincident gauge to investigate new solutions of the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory applied in the context of black holes, regular black holes, and the black-bounce spacetime. For each of these approaches, we compute the linear solutions and the solutions with the constraint that the non-metricity scalar is zero. We also analyze the geodesics of each solution to interpret whether the spacetime is extensible or not, find the Kretschmann scalar to determine the regularity along spacetime, and in the context of regular black holes and black-bounce, we calculate the energy conditions. In the latter black-bounce case we realize that the null energy condition (NEC), specifically the $NEC_1 = WEC_1 = SEC_1 \leftrightarrow \rho + p_r \ge 0$, is satisfied outside the event horizon.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	$f(\mathbb{Q})$ gravity	4
	2.1 Geodesics	6
3	Definition of the metric, geometric objects, and the	
	equations of motion	6
4	Black hole solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory \ldots .	8
	4.1 Black Holles in symmetric teleparallel theory	
	equivalent to general relativity	8
	4.2 Black hole solution considering $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	9
5	Regular Black Hole solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory	10
	5.1 Regular Black Hole solutions at STTEGR	10
	5.2 Solution for the regular Bardeen black hole	10
	5.3 First solution of regular black holes with the zero	
	non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	11

	5.4	Second solution of regular black holes with zero	
		non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	12
6	Blac	ck-bounce solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory	13
	6.1	Solutions of black-bounce in symmetric telepar-	
		allel theory equivalent to general relativity	
		(STTEGR)	13
	6.2	First black-bounce solution with zero non-	
		metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	14
	6.3	Second black-bounce solution with zero non-	
		metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	15
	6.4	Third black-bounce solution with zero non-	
		metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$	16
7	Con	clusion	18
R	efere	nces	20

1 Introduction

The theory of general relativity (GR), proposed by Albert Einstein in 1915, is the theory of gravity that currently shows the greatest agreement with the experimental tests by which it was challenged. In this context, we can cite some tests, for example, at the level of the solar system such as the precession of Mercury perihelion [1] and the deflection of light by the curvature of spacetime near a massive body [2]. In addition to these tests, other of his predictions have been confirmed recently, such as the detection of gravitational waves made in 2016 performed by the LIGO (Laser Interferometer Gravitational Wave Observatory) collaboration and Virgo [3–9] and the very existence of black holes from their image construction, which was carried out by the international collaboration "Event Horizon Telescope" (EHT) [10–15].

In constructing GR, Einstein concluded that the concept of gravity is described by the curvature of space-time, with the mathematical structure described by Riemannian geom-



^a e-mail: tarcisojunior17@gmail.com

^be-mail: esialg@gmail.com (corresponding author)

etry [16, 17]. On this occasion, the connection used to define the covariant derivative in GR is known as the Christoffel symbol or Levi-Civita connection. However, there are other objects described by non-Riemannian geometries that are capable of describing gravitational interaction beyond curvature [18], which are: the torsion tensor $T^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ and the nonmetricity tensor $Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}$. Therefore, these tensors are the basis for establishing geometries used to mathematically structure other theories of gravity, but with a different description of the curvature of GR. These groups are grouped to define new tensors from their arrangements. The first is the contorsion tensor, this object is defined only in terms of the torsion tensor, while the second is the disformation tensor, defined with respect to the non-metricity tensor. Thus, these new quantities constitute, together with the connection of the GR, form the three components of the most general possible connection, the affine connection. Alternative theories of gravity can thus be developed from the composition of the affine connection.

Among the gravity models that can be described by affine geometry, there are first two specific cases of equivalence with GR. The first is known as the teleparallel equivalent of general relativity (TEGR), where gravitational effects are attributed only to the torsion tensor $T^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ [19–22]. Therefore, in the TEGR, the curvature $R^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu\beta}$ and the non-metricity tensor $Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}$ are assumed to be zero, and consequently this theory is characterized by a flat geometry. That is, in the teleparallel case, the parallel transported vectors do not change. Moreover, instead of presenting an action with the curvature scalar *R* as in the theory GR, in the teleparallel theory we have an action written in terms of the torsion scalar plus a boundary term ($\mathbb{T}+B_T$), which leads us to conclude that their functional actions are equivalent, this implies field equations written in terms of the torsion.

While the second formulation, known as the teleparallel symmetric equivalent of general relativity (STEGR), contains the non-metricity tensor responsible for describing the gravitational interaction [23]. So we have in this theory that the curvature $R^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu\beta}$ together with the torsion tensor T_{α} is zero. And as already mentioned in the teleparallel theory, STEGR is also developed by a non-Riemannian geometry of flat spacetime. It is attributed to this theory, as one of the simplest gravitational formulations, because the affine connection can be globally cancelled on a variety, thus allowing the covariant derivative to be described only in terms of the partial derivative, this choice of coordinate is called the coincident gauge [24]. These two approaches together with GR constitute the so-called "The Geometrical Trinity of Gravity" [25].

However, despite the undoubted success of GR, this theory has some limitations in describing some phenomena of the Universe. At present, cosmological observations based on Type Ia Supernovae indicate that the Universe is in a phase of accelerated expansion [26,27]. But, this scenario lacks a convincing explanation from GR, i.e. in GR dynamics an exotic fluid exerting negative pressure, called dark energy (DE), is used, which has been inferred to ensure this scenario of the Universe. However there is no agreement on its origin. Observations indicate that DE governs approximately 70% of the total energy density of the Universe [28,29]. It this context, that the scientific community uses new approaches to deepen the understanding in a more precise way, not only, the current expansion scenario of the Universe, but also dark matter, which has been postulated to explain the gravitational dynamics of galaxies [30].

On the other hand, in 1915 Karl Schwarzschild developed the first exact solution of the GR equations [31], which later became known as black holes. This solution has some peculiarities, such as the structure known as the event horizon, a region from which, having reached it, not even a particle can escape [32]. And it also predicts the existence of spacetime singularities at its center [33], a regime that makes GR inapplicable. However, Bardeen proposed a solution to the GR field equations in which the singularity does not exist [34], this formulation is called regular black holes (RBH) [35]. Using nonlinear electrodynamics coupled to GR, Beato and Garcia found exact solutions for the source of RBHs [36,37]. We also recommend [38-42] Zhong-Ying Fan and Xiaobao Wang develop a method to obtain general solutions of black holes with electric or magnetic charges in General Relativity coupled with nonlinear electrodynamics [43,44]. In their study, they concluded that the solutions of static, spherically symmetric black holes are regular throughout spacetime. Thermodynamics was also investigated, and consequently the first law of thermodynamics and Smarr's formula were found. And finally it was possible to generalize this procedure to obtain solutions for regular black holes with cosmological constant. Another class of black holes, namely those with rotation, is of great interest for astrophysical observations. Therefore, using the Newman-Janis algorithm method [45], the authors develop generic solutions for rotating black holes in general relativity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics [46,47]. In this work, the properties of rotating black hole solutions are discussed and some classes of geodesics are explored. It is also found that within the Cauchy horizon the weak and strong energy conditions are violated.

In addition, the theory GR predicts the existence of the spacetime structures capable of connecting two distant regions of the Universe or even of two different Universes, these objects are called wormholes [48]. And they often require exotic matter that can violate energy conditions to remain stable [48]. The term wormholes, was established by Misner and Wheeler [49,50]. In 1935, Einstein and Rosen found the first wormhole solution using GR. Today this solution is known as the Einstein–Rosen bridge or Schwarzschild wormholes [51]. Morris and Thorne

were the ones who described a comprehensive study of traversable wormholes. Their work has contributed greatly to the spread of this subject [52,53]. A study of the quasinormal modes, echoes, and shadow radii generated by wormholes from the Einstein-Maxwell-Dirac theories [54,55] and in the Randall–Sundrum braneworld context [56], both without considering the use of exotic matter, was developed by [57]. And still in the context of wormholes in Einstein-Dirac-Maxwell theory without exotic matter in their structure, a study of epicyclic oscillatory motion was developed and from the frequency of orbital and epicyclic motion of test particles, the geodesics of quasiperiodic oscillations of high frequency models observed in active galactic nuclei were discussed [58]. In the work [59] solutions for asymmetric wormholes and soft matter were found, however, without satisfying the undesirable physical requirements of the Einstein-Dirac-Maxwell theory.

Recently Simpson and Visser proposed a formalism called black-bounce [60]. This structure of spacetime interpolates between Schwarzschild black holes and wormholes, and is described by a static spherically symmetric and asymptotically flat metric. Moreover, this new approach is free of singularities. In their construction, Simpson and Visser propose a metric consisting of a real parameter which, depending on its value, can describe the Schwarzschild metric, traversable wormholes, and the black-bounce. Thus, spacetime is regular if the bounce parameter is nonzero. After its development many works have been done on this subject, for example studies regarding regularity, causal structure and the energy conditions [61]. Solutions with GR coupled with nonlinear electrodynamics and a scalar field [62-64]. Blackbounce solutions with charge and rotation [65-67]. Weak and strong deflecting gravitational lenses in black-bounce spacetime [68]. A study of quasinormal modes was developed using the WKB method with Padé expansion [69], in their development the authors conclude that the transition between black hole and wormhole is characterized by echoes. For some more discussion of this content see [70-72]. And still in Simpson-Visser geometry a study of circular geodesic motion and epicyclic oscillatory motion was developed [73].

In view of the above, alternative approaches have been proposed to address the shortcomings of GR. There are, for example, the f(R) theories [74–77], which are generalizations of the GR theory, where instead of describing the action by a Ricci scalar R, arbitrary functions of this scalar are used. Starobinsky theory is a proposal that accounts for quantum corrections to an inflationary model by adding the R^2 term to the Einstein–Hilbert [78] action. Other possibilities for theories of gravity are to use the trace of the energy– momentum tensor in the action, for example $f(R, \Theta)$ [79,80] and $f(R, \Theta, R_{\mu\nu}\Theta^{\mu\nu})$ [81–86], where $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$ represents the energy–momentum tensor, Θ is the trace of this tensor, and $R_{\mu\nu}$ is the Ricci tensor. Another approach to explain the expansion of the Universe, is to use functions of the Gauss–Bonnet invariant, *G*, in the gravitational action with f(G) [87–91], $f(G, \Theta)$ [92–94] and also f(R, G) [95–100].

But just as there are generalizations f(R), we also have their analog in teleparallel theories, i.e. instead of functions of the scalar R, arbitrary functions of the torsion scalar in the Lagrangian $f(\mathbb{T})$ [101] are used. This construction represents a reasonable explanation for the late acceleration of the universe without including an exotic component [101]. This construction represents a reasonable explanation for the late acceleration of the universe without including an exotic component [101]. We also have other constructions from this extension, like the one with the trace of the energy– momentum tensor $f(\mathbb{T}, \Theta)$ [102–106], the inclusion of the Gauss–Bonnet analog invariant T_G , which we occasionally have the theory $f(\mathbb{T}, T_G)$ [107]. Another interesting solution of the extension $f(\mathbb{T})$, was applied in the context of blackbounce spacetime [108].

Recently, a new formulation of modified theories of gravity based on nonlinear functions of the non-metricity scalar $f(\mathbb{Q})$ has been proposed [24, 109]. Given the limitations of GR and analogous to the modified theories f(R) and $f(\mathbb{T})$, we have, for example, also in the theory $f(\mathbb{Q})$ a great interest in phenomenological applications from a new point of view, which is a promising basis for the study of its gravitational effects in general. On the level of cosmology of the Friedmann-Lemaitre-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) universe, the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory has the same interpretations as the $f(\mathbb{T})$ theory. However, these formulations show a different behavior at the level of cosmological perturbation theory [109]. Other cosmological approaches can be found in references [110,111]. An extension of this theory, the $f(\mathbb{Q}, \Theta)$ theories, have also been developed [112–114]. Wormholes were applied on the basis of $f(\mathbb{Q})$ [115–118]. The $f(\mathbb{Q})$ was used to study topological vacuum solutions described by a static and spherical symmetry [119]. Relevant work has been done to study the evolution of primordial black holes in gravity $f(\mathbb{Q})$ [120]. Another interesting study of black holes applied in this extension is the use of symmetries for spherically symmetric and stationary spacetimes [121]. In the work [122] the author explores the understanding of the coincident doctrine building on the reference [121]. Spacetime configurations for the metric that are static and spherically symmetric are found and discussed.

So, our goal in this paper is to use the coincident gauge to obtain and investigate solutions of the gravity $f(\mathbb{Q})$ applied in the context of black holes, regular black holes and blackbounce space-time. The structure of this paper is organized as follows, in the Sect. 2 we present the symmetric teleparallel theory, the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory and the coincident gauge. In Sect. 3 we discuss the metric we will use to obtain our solutions, as well as the components of some geometric quantities and hence the field equations of $f(\mathbb{Q})$. We show in Sect. (4) solu-

tions of black holes in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory, first in Sect. 4.1 we find the linear solution. And subsequently in Sect. 4.2 we discuss and analyze the case where the non-metricity scalar is zero. In Sect. 5 we develop the solutions for regular black holes, in the subsequent subsections we find the solutions for the symmetric teleparallel theory and for the null non-metricity scalar, respectively. In Sect. 6 we develop the solutions for the case where we consider $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, and we also analyze the energy conditions. In one of the cases, due to the complexity of the solutions, we analyze the energy conditions graphically. And finally, we present and discuss our conclusions and the prospects for future research that we intend to conduct in Sect. 7.

2 $f(\mathbb{Q})$ gravity

The connection is a mathematical object that defines the covariant derivative and tells us how tensors should be transported through the manifold. In general relativity, established by Riemannian geometry, the connection is determined by a symmetric connection known as Christoffel symbol or Levi-Civita connection. However, there are two objects that make up a more general connection formed by its antisymmetric part and another component given by the relaxation of the metricity condition. This connection is known as an affine connection, its explicit form is,

$$\Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = \left\{ {}^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} \right\} + K^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} + L^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu}, \tag{1}$$

where the first term indicates the Christoffel symbol, which is compatible with the metric,

$$\begin{cases} \beta \\ \mu\nu \end{cases} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\beta\alpha} \left(\partial_{\mu} g_{\nu\alpha} + \partial_{\nu} g_{\alpha\mu} - \partial_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
 (2)

The second term in turn is the antisymmetric component of the connection known as contorsion, $K^{\beta}_{\mu\nu}$, expressed in terms of the torsion tensor $T^{\beta}_{\mu\nu} = 2\Gamma^{\beta}_{[\mu\nu]} = -T^{\beta}_{\nu\mu}$,

$$K^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} T^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} + T^{\ \beta}_{(\mu\ \nu)}, \tag{3}$$

and finally we have the disformation tensor $L^{\beta}_{\mu\nu}$,

$$L^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} Q^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} - Q^{\ \beta}_{\ (\mu\ \nu)} = L^{\beta}_{\ \nu\mu}, \tag{4}$$

which is defined in terms of the non-metricity tensor,

 $Q_{\beta\mu\nu} \equiv \nabla_{\beta} g_{\mu\nu}, \tag{5}$

where we now have that the covariant derivative ∇_{μ} is related to the affine connection (1).

To simplify the equations of motion, it is appropriate to define the superpotential, whose explicit form is,

$$P^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2}L^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}\left[\left(\tilde{Q}^{\beta}g_{\mu\nu} - Q^{\beta}\right)g_{\mu\nu} + \delta^{\beta}_{(\mu}Q_{\nu)}\right],\tag{6}$$

where $Q_{\alpha} = g^{\mu\nu}Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} = Q_{\alpha\nu}^{\nu} e \tilde{Q}_{\alpha} = g^{\mu\nu}Q_{\mu\alpha\nu} = Q_{\alpha\nu}^{\nu}$ are the traces of the non-metricity tensor.

So we can define the non-metricity scalar in a more compact form by contracting the non-metricity tensor (5) with the superpotential (6),

$$\mathbb{Q} = -Q_{\beta\mu\nu}P^{\beta\mu\nu}.\tag{7}$$

The curvature tensor described by general relativity is defined by the Levi-Civita connection,

$$R^{\beta}_{\ \mu\alpha\nu} = \partial_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \nu\mu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\mu} + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\rho}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \nu\mu} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \nu\rho}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \alpha\mu}, \tag{8}$$

it is possible to perform a contraction in this tensor leading to the Ricci tensor,

$$R_{\mu\nu} = R^{\beta}_{\ \mu\beta\nu},\tag{9}$$

the contraction of the Ricci tensor gives us the Ricci scalar,

$$R = g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (10)

Using the affine connection, the Riemann tensor (8) can be rewritten from the following decomposition,

$$R^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu} = \stackrel{C}{R^{\beta}}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu} + \stackrel{C}{\nabla}_{\mu} V^{\beta}_{\ \nu\alpha} - \stackrel{C}{\nabla}_{\nu} V^{\beta}_{\ \mu\alpha} + V^{\beta}_{\ \mu\rho} V^{\rho}_{\ \nu\alpha} - V^{\beta}_{\ \nu\rho} V^{\rho}_{\ \mu\alpha},$$
(11)

where $R^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu}$ is described in terms of the affine connection, $R^{C}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu}^{\ \ }$ and the derivative ∇ are quantities that are related to the Christoffel symbol (2), and the tensor $V^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu}$ is given by,

$$V^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = K^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} + L^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu}.$$
 (12)

Furthermore, for a torsion-free connection $T^{\beta}_{\mu\nu} = 0$, and from the appropriate contractions imposed on the Riemann tensor, the relation (11) reduces to,

$$R = \overset{C}{R} - \mathbb{Q} + \overset{C}{\nabla}_{\beta} \left(Q^{\beta} - \tilde{Q}^{\beta} \right), \qquad (13)$$

where $\stackrel{C}{R}$ is the Ricci scalar expressed in terms of the Christoffel symbol.

Starting from the teleparallel condition (TC) given by R = 0, i.e. we will have a flat space-time that establishes the teleparallel geometries, we will find in this way a more general approach associating the Ricci scalar with the non-metricity scalar,

$$\overset{C}{R} = \mathbb{Q} - \overset{C}{\nabla}_{\beta} \left(Q^{\beta} - \tilde{Q}^{\beta} \right).$$
(14)

Consequently, this relation informs us that the non-metricity scalar differs from the Ricci scalar by a total derivative term or a boundary term,

$$B_Q = \stackrel{C}{\nabla}_{\beta} \left(Q^{\beta} - \tilde{Q}^{\beta} \right). \tag{15}$$

Then, the proposal of a gravitational theory known as the symmetric teleparallel equivalent of general relativity (STEGR), in which the gravitational interaction is described by means of the non-metricity tensor, is thus given by the following action,

$$S_{\text{STEGR}} = \int \sqrt{-g} d^4 x \Big[\mathbb{Q} + 2\kappa^2 \mathcal{L}_m \Big]. \tag{16}$$

we have that $\kappa^2 = 8\pi G/c^4$, where G is the gravitational constant and \mathcal{L}_m is the Lagrangian of the matter field. Note that from the relation (14) it appears that the action of STEGR theory differs from the Einstein–Hiblert action of GR by a boundary term (B_Q), which means that STEGR is an equivalent formulation of general relativity.

A non-linear extension of the STERG theory, is to use the following action,

$$S_{\rm f_Q} = \int \sqrt{-g} d^4 x \Big[f\left(\mathbb{Q}\right) + 2\kappa^2 \mathcal{L}_m \Big]. \tag{17}$$

where $f(\mathbb{Q})$ can be an arbitrary function of the non-metricity scalar \mathbb{Q} .

The field equations of the theory $f(\mathbb{Q})$, are obtained by varying the action (17) with respect to the metric [109],

$$\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \left(\sqrt{-g} f_{Q} \left(\mathbb{Q} \right) P^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \right) + \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} f \left(\mathbb{Q} \right) + f_{Q} \left(\mathbb{Q} \right) \left(P_{\mu\alpha\nu} Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} - 2 Q_{\alpha\beta\mu} P^{\alpha\beta}_{\ \nu} \right) = \kappa^{2} \Theta_{\mu\nu}, \quad (18)$$

where the momentum–energy tensor is given by $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$ and to simplify the equations we use the following notation $f_Q \equiv \frac{\partial f(Q)}{\partial Q}$.

If we perform the functional variation of the equation (16), we find the linear equations of the STEGR theory, which are obtained when we do in (18) $f(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}$.

We can rewrite the equations of motion (18) in a more convenient way according to the proposal of [121, 123, 124],

$$f_{Q}(\mathbb{Q}) G_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \left(f(\mathbb{Q}) - f_{Q}(\mathbb{Q}) \mathbb{Q} \right) + 2 f_{QQ}(\mathbb{Q}) P^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \partial_{\alpha} \mathbb{Q} = \kappa^{2} \Theta_{\mu\nu}.$$
(19)

where $G_{\mu\nu}$ is the Einstein tensor described by (2) and we denote $f_{QQ} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbb{Q}} \left(\frac{\partial f(\mathbb{Q})}{\partial \mathbb{Q}} \right)$. If we assume that the matter content behaves like a perfect

If we assume that the matter content behaves like a perfect fluid, where $\Theta_{\nu}^{\mu} = \text{diag}[\rho, -p_r, -p_t, -p_t]$, we have that the energy conditions can be extended to the theory $f(\mathbb{Q})$.

$$NEC_{1,2} = SEC_{1,2} = WEC_{1,2} = \rho + p_{r,t} \ge 0,$$
(20)

$$SEC_3 = \rho + p_r + 2p_t \ge 0,$$
 (21)

$$DEC_{1,2} = \rho - |p_{r,t}| \ge 0 \text{ ou } \rho \pm p_{r,t} \ge 0,$$
 (22)

$$DEC_3 = WEC_3 = \rho \ge 0. \tag{23}$$

where we associate the radial and tangential components with indices 1 and 2, respectively.

Starting from TC, which corresponds to a variety with a plane geometry characterizing a pure inertial connection, it is possible to perform an *gauge* transformation of the linear group GL(4, \mathbb{R}) parameterized by $\Lambda^{\alpha}_{\ \mu}$ [25, 109],

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \left(\Lambda^{-1}\right)^{\alpha}_{\ \beta} \partial_{[\mu}\Lambda^{\beta}_{\ \nu]}.$$
(24)

So we can write that the most general possible connection, through the general element of GL(4, \mathbb{R}), which is parametrized by the transformation of $\Lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\xi^{\alpha}$, where ξ^{α} is an arbitrary vector field,

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{\partial x^{\alpha}}{\partial \xi^{\rho}} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \xi^{\rho}.$$
(25)

This result shows us that the connection can be removed by a coordinate transformation. The transformation that results in the connection (25) being removed is called *gage coincident* [24].

Consequently, from the coincident gauge we have that the non-metricity tensor defined by (5) becomes,

$$Q_{\beta\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\beta}g_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (26)

In this manuscript we use the coincident gauge to compute our solutions.

We will calculate the Kretschmann scalar $K = R^{\beta\mu\nu\alpha}$ $R_{\beta\mu\nu\alpha}$ to ascertain the regularity of the space-time of our solutions. Then, from the expression (11) this scalar takes the form of

$$K = \overset{C}{K} + \overset{L}{K} + 2\overset{C}{R}{}^{\beta\alpha\mu\nu} \left(g_{\delta\beta} \nabla_{\mu} L^{\delta}{}_{\nu\alpha} - g_{\delta\beta} \nabla_{\nu} L^{\delta}{}_{\mu\alpha} + L_{\beta\mu\rho} L^{\rho}{}_{\nu\alpha} - L_{\beta\nu\rho} L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\alpha} \right).$$
(27)

where \tilde{K} is the Kretschmann scalar described by GR and \tilde{K} is the scalar depending uniquely on the distortion.

From this we can conclude that a spacetime is regular, i.e. without curvature singularities, if the Kretschmann scalar shows no divergences. So we calculate the Kretschmann scalar for each model. But since the curvature $R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu} = 0$, which directly implies that the global Kretschmann scalar (27) is null, This gives us the following relation,

$$-\overset{L}{K}-2\overset{C}{R}{}^{\beta\alpha\mu\nu}\left(g_{\delta\beta}\nabla_{\mu}L^{\delta}{}_{\nu\alpha}-g_{\delta\beta}\nabla_{\nu}L^{\delta}{}_{\mu\alpha}\right)$$
$$+L_{\beta\mu\rho}L^{\rho}{}_{\nu\alpha}-L_{\beta\nu\rho}L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\alpha}\left)=\overset{C}{K}.$$

From this relation, we will then use $\overset{C}{K}$ to determine the regular space-time solutions that we will discuss in the next sections.

2.1 Geodesics

Let us start with the Lagrangian to find the equations of the geodesic

$$\mathcal{L} = g_{\mu\nu} \dot{x}^{\mu} \dot{x}^{\nu} = \epsilon, \qquad (28)$$

where $\epsilon \rightarrow (-1, 0, 1)$ which indicate respectively the spacelike, lightlike and timelike geodesics. Then we will only have

$$\mathcal{L} = \left[g_{00}(r) \, \dot{t}^2 + g_{11}(r) \, \dot{r}^2 + g_{22}(r) \, \dot{\theta}^2 + g_{33}(r,\theta) \, \dot{\phi}^2 \right] = \epsilon.$$
(29)

The Euler–Lagrange equation

$$\frac{d}{d\tau} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{x}^{\mu}} \right) - \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = 0, \tag{30}$$

give us the following equations for the coordinates t, r, θ and ϕ

$$\begin{cases} g_{00}(r)\dot{i} = E. \\ g_{11}(r)\ddot{r} - [g'_{00}(r)\dot{i}^2 + g'_{11}(r)\dot{r}^2 + g'_{22}(r)\dot{\theta}^2 + g'_{33}(r,\theta)\dot{\phi}^2] \\ = \delta \\ g_{22}(r)\ddot{\theta} + \dot{g}_{22}(r)\dot{\theta} - \dot{g}_{33}(r,\theta)\dot{\phi}^2 = 0 \\ g_{33}(r,\theta)\dot{\phi} = -l. \end{cases}$$
(31)

where E and l are the energy and angular momentum, respectively. And in our notation we use that (') denotes the derivative with respect to the radial coordinate, (°) represents the derivative with respect to proper time.

Starting from the following expression

$$g_{\mu\nu}\dot{x}^{\mu}\dot{x}^{\nu} = g_{00}(r)\,\dot{t}^{2} + g_{11}(r)\,\dot{r}^{2} + g_{22}(r)\,\dot{\theta}^{2} + g_{33}(r,\theta)\,\dot{\phi}^{2} = \epsilon.$$
(32)

Now lets substitute in the Eq. (32) the following relations

$$g_{00}(r)\dot{t} = E,$$
 (33)

$$g_{33}\left(r,\theta\right)\dot{\phi} = -l,\tag{34}$$

choosing the motion in the equatorial plane to be $\theta = \pi/2$, we get

$$\dot{r}^{2} = g^{11}(r) \epsilon - \left(\frac{g^{11}(r)}{g_{00}(r)g_{33}(r,\theta)}\right) \times \left(g_{33}(r,\theta)E^{2} + g_{00}(r)l^{2}\right).$$
(35)

Another very important expression that will help us understand the causal structure of our geometry in a meaningful way is the geodesics. Geodesics describe the paths on which the particles move. However, there are two types of geodesics, namely those that describe the shortest distance between two points on a curve, the so-called metric geodesics, and affine geodesics, which define the straightest possible curves in a geometry. In Riemannian geometry or general relativity, the distinction between these two geodesics is irrelevant because the two geodesics are equivalent. However, in more general geometries, as in the case of symmetric teleparallel theory, the two definitions are relevant because we have one equation for the geodesic described by the connection describing all of spacetime and another by the Levi-Civita connection. Then, in order to describe and better understand the causal structure from the solutions of each case we will treat, we will also calculate the equations of the geodesics, and we will use the geodesics described by the Levi-Civita connection because they are the most compatible with the observational data [125]. Since the equation of the geodesic with the global space-time connection is simply $\frac{d^2 x^{\mu}}{d\tau^2} = 0$, which clearly cannot describe the geodesics of black holes and black bounces, we must surely choose the equation of the geodesic with the Levi-Civita connection.

3 Definition of the metric, geometric objects, and the equations of motion

We will now point out the main components of the geometric quantities of the theory with which we are concerned in this manuscript. However, in order to simplify the discussion of the solutions we will deal with later in the context of black holes, regular black holes and black-bounce, we assume the most general possible static and spherically symmetric metric represented by,

$$ds^{2} = e^{a(r)}dt^{2} - e^{b(r)}dr^{2} - \Sigma(r)^{2} \left[d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}(\theta) d\phi^{2} \right],$$
(36)

where a(r), b(r) and $\Sigma(r)$ are radial functions of the coordinates and are independent of time, and the determinant of the metric tensor is given by $g = -e^{a(r)+b(r)}\Sigma^4(r)\sin^2\theta$. Note that the metric constraint is determined by the value of $\Sigma(r)$. Therefore, for each case we will discuss later, we will give the corresponding metric from (36).

With the metric defined, we will now compute the components of the tensor objects that establish the symmetric teleparallel theory. Thus, we have that the non-zero components of the non-metricity tensor (5) are,

$$Q_{100} = e^{a(r)}a'(r), \quad Q_{111} = -e^{b(r)}b'(r),$$

$$Q_{122} = -2\Sigma(r)\Sigma'(r),$$

$$Q_{133} = -2\sin^{2}(\theta)\Sigma(r)\Sigma'(r),$$

$$Q_{233} = -2\cos(\theta)\sin(\theta)\Sigma^{2}(r).$$
(37)

where the symbol (') represents the derivation according to the coordinate r. In possession of the nonmetricity tensor, we obtain the nonzero components of the disformation tensor (4),

$$\begin{split} L^{0}_{01} &= L^{0}_{10} = -\frac{1}{2}a'(r), \\ L^{1}_{00} &= -\frac{1}{2}e^{[a(r)-b(r)]}a'(r), \\ L^{1}_{11} &= -\frac{1}{2}b'(r), \\ L^{1}_{22} &= e^{-b(r)}\Sigma(r)\Sigma'(r), \\ L^{1}_{33} &= e^{-b(r)}\sin(\theta)\Sigma(r)\Sigma'(r), \\ L^{2}_{21} &= L^{2}_{12} = L^{3}_{31} = L^{3}_{13} = -\frac{\Sigma'(r)}{\Sigma(r)}, \\ L^{2}_{33} &= \cos(\theta)\sin(\theta), \\ L^{3}_{32} &= L^{3}_{23} = -\cot(\theta). \end{split}$$
(38)

The nonzero components of the (6) are:

$$P^{0}_{01} = P^{0}_{10} = \frac{1}{8} \left[a'(r) - b'(r) - \frac{4\Sigma'(r)}{\Sigma(r)} \right];$$

$$P^{1}_{00} = -\frac{e^{[a(r) - b(r)]}\Sigma'(r)}{\Sigma(r)};$$

$$P^{0}_{02} = P^{0}_{20} = P^{1}_{12} = P^{1}_{21} = -\frac{1}{4}\cot(\theta);$$

$$P^{1}_{22} = \frac{1}{4}e^{-b(r)}\Sigma(r) \left[\Sigma(r)a'(r) + 2\Sigma'(r)\right];$$

$$P_{33}^{1} = \frac{1}{4}e^{-b(r)}\sin^{2}(\theta)\Sigma(r)\left[\Sigma(r)a'(r) + 2\Sigma'(r)\right];$$

$$P_{00}^{2} = -\frac{e^{a(r)}\cot(\theta)}{2\Sigma^{2}(r)};$$

$$P_{11}^{2} = \frac{e^{b(r)}\cot(\theta)}{2\Sigma^{2}(r)}; \quad P_{12}^{2} = P_{21}^{2} = P_{13}^{3} = P_{31}^{3}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8}\left[a'(r) + b'(r)\right];$$

$$P_{32}^{3} = P_{23}^{3} = \frac{\cot(\theta)}{4}.$$
(39)

From the Eq. (7) the non-metricity scalar is given by,

$$\mathbb{Q} = -\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\Sigma'(r)\big[\Sigma(r)a'(r) + \Sigma'(r)\big]}{\Sigma^2(r)}.$$
(40)

The evolutionary equations, considering the metric (36) and the Eqs. (37), (38), (39) and (40) are given below,

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[f(\mathbb{Q}) - f_{\mathcal{Q}}(r)\mathbb{Q}(r) \right] - \frac{2e^{-b(r)}f_{\mathcal{Q}\mathcal{Q}}(r)\mathbb{Q}'(r)\Sigma'(r)}{\Sigma(r)} + \frac{e^{-b(r)}f_{\mathcal{Q}}(r)}{\Sigma^{2}(r)} \left[\Sigma(r)\left(b'(r)\Sigma'(r) - 2\Sigma''(r)\right) + e^{b(r)} - \Sigma'^{2}(r) \right] \\ = \frac{1}{2}\kappa^{2}\rho, \qquad (41)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}f(\mathbb{Q}) - \frac{1}{2}f_{\mathcal{Q}}(r)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{2} \overline{f(Q)} - \frac{1}{2} J_Q(r)$$

$$\times \left[\mathbb{Q}(r) + \frac{2e^{-b(r)} \left(\Sigma(r)a'(r)\Sigma'(r) - e^{b(r)} + \Sigma'^2(r) \right)}{\Sigma^2(r)} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \kappa^2 p_r,$$
(42)

$$\frac{1}{2}e^{-b(r)}f_{QQ}(r)\cot(\theta)\mathbb{Q}'(r) = 0,$$
(43)

$$\frac{f_{\mathcal{Q}\mathcal{Q}}(r)\cot(\theta)\mathbb{Q}'(r)}{\Sigma^2(r)} = 0, \tag{44}$$

$$\frac{-e^{-b(r)}f(\mathbb{Q})}{4\Sigma(r)} \Big[2a'(r)\Sigma'(r) + \Sigma(r)\Big(2a''(r) - a'(r)b'(r) + a'^2(r)\Big) \Big]$$

$$-2b'(r)\Sigma'(r) + 2e^{\rho(r)}\mathbb{Q}(r)\Sigma(r) + 4\Sigma''(r) \Big] + \frac{1}{4\Sigma(r)}$$

$$\times \Big[-2f_{QQ}(r)\mathbb{Q}'(r)\Big(\Sigma(r)a'(r) + 2\Sigma'(r)\Big) + 2e^{b(r)}f(\mathbb{Q})\Sigma(r) \Big]$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\kappa^2 p_t.$$
(45)

The geodesic equation for the (36) metric is given as

$$\left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^2 = -\frac{e^{-a(r)-b(r)}\left[l^2 e^{a(r)} + E^2 \Sigma^2(r)\right]}{\Sigma^2(r)} + e^{-b(r)}\epsilon,$$
(46)

where *l* is angular momentum, *E* is energy and *s* is the affine parameter.

In this manuscript we will analyze two cases. The first case deals with the linear theory, that is, with the equation

(19), in general we see that we are clearly in the GR theory with $f(\mathbb{Q}) = f_0 \mathbb{Q} + f_1$, with effective cosmological constant being given by $\Lambda_{eff} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{f_0}{f_1}$ and $\kappa_{eff}^2 = \frac{\kappa^2}{f_1}$. The next case would be described with the non-metricity $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, $f(\mathbb{Q}) = f_0$ and $f_O(\mathbb{Q}) = f_1$, where we fall back to GR with the cosmological constant $\Lambda_{eff} = \frac{1}{2} f_0 f_1$ and $\kappa_{eff}^2 = \frac{\kappa^2}{f_1}$. The components of the non-metricity tensor (37), show that for the case of the Minkowski metric where a' = b' = 0, $\Sigma(r)' = 1$ and $\Sigma(r) = r$, reveal that not all components cancel each other out. However, in the case where the geometry has only curvature, we have that all components of the Riemann tensor for the Minkowski metric are identically zero, and so are all other objects described from the curvature. We see that this is not analogously true for a space which has only the non-metric tensor. The same is true for the disformation tensor (4), whose components are described by (38), and the same is true for the superpotential, whose components are given by (39). Thus, using the equation (40) we see that the non-metricity scalar given by (48) is not an invariant on diffeomorphism, this is in contrast to the invariant of GR , which is the curvature scalar, since we can already see for the Minkowski metric that the nonmetricity scalar diverges at the point where r = 0. We note, however, that the definition of the equation (15) with zero curvature for r = 0 has no divergence.

4 Black hole solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory

In this topic we will define the metric on which we will develop our black hole solutions. Then, using the equations of motion, we will discuss the black hole solutions for STEGR and for the case when the non-metricity scalar is zero.

The black hole solutions are obtained by applying $\Sigma(r) = r$ to (36) so that the metric is described by,

$$ds^{2} = e^{a(r)}dt^{2} - e^{b(r)}dr^{2} - r^{2}\left[d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}(\theta) d\phi^{2}\right],$$
(47)

where the determinant of the metric tensor is given by $g = -e^{a(r)+b(r)}r^4 \sin^2 \theta$.

From (7), the non-metricity scalar for the metric in question (47), becomes

$$\mathbb{Q} = -\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left[ra'(r)+1\right]}{r^2}.$$
(48)

Thus, assuming $\Sigma(r) = r$ in the (37), (38) and (39) components, and using the scalar (48) the evolutionary equations are written as,

$$\frac{1}{2}[f(\mathbb{Q}) - f_Q(r)\mathbb{Q}(r)] - \frac{2e^{-b(r)}f_{QQ}(r)\mathbb{Q}'(r)}{r}$$

$$+\frac{e^{-b(r)}f_{\mathcal{Q}}(r)\left[rb'(r)+e^{b(r)}-1\right]}{r^{2}} = \frac{1}{2}\kappa^{2}\rho, \quad (49)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\left\{f(\mathbb{Q})-f_{\mathcal{Q}}(r)\left[\mathbb{Q}(r)-\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left(ra'(r)-e^{b(r)}\right)}{r^{2}}\right]\right\}$$

$$=-\frac{1}{2}\kappa^{2}p_{r}, \quad (50)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}e^{-b(r)}f_{QQ}(r)\cot(\theta)\mathbb{Q}'(r) = 0,$$
(51)

$$\frac{f_{QQ}(r)\cot(\theta)\mathbb{Q}'(r)}{r^2} = 0,$$
(52)

$$-\frac{e^{-b(r)}f_{Q}(r)}{4r}\left[2a'(r)-2b'(r) + r\left(2a''(r)-a'(r)b'(r)+a'^{2}(r)+2e^{b(r)}\mathbb{Q}'(r)\right)\right] + \frac{e^{-b(r)}}{4r}\left[2e^{b(r)}f(\mathbb{Q})r-2f_{QQ}(r)\mathbb{Q}'(r)\left(ra'(r)+2\right)\right] = -\frac{1}{2}\kappa^{2}p_{I}.$$
(53)

4.1 Black Holles in symmetric teleparallel theory equivalent to general relativity

With the intention of finding regular solutions, we consider the following functions $f(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q} + 2\lambda$, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$, where λ is a constant that reduces the expressions (49–53) to the following forms,

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1\right)}{r^2} + \lambda = \kappa^2 \rho(r)$$
(54)

$$\frac{e^{-\rho(r)}\left(-ra'(r)+e^{\rho(r)}-1\right)}{r^2}+\lambda=-\kappa^2 p_r(r)$$
(55)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}}{4r} \left\{ \frac{4(ra'(r)+1)}{r} + 2b'(r) + 2re^{b(r)} \times \left[2\lambda - \frac{2e^{-b(r)}(ra'(r)+1)}{r^2} \right] \right\} + \frac{e^{-b(r)}}{4r} \left\{ 2b'(r) - 2ra''(r) - a'(r) \left(2 - rb'(r)\right) - ra'^2(r) \right\} = -\kappa^2 p_t(r)$$
(56)

Because of the spherical symmetry of the Einstein solutions, we can make $p_r(r) = -\rho(r)$. So we assume that a(r) = -b(r), so the evolutionary equations are as follows,

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1\right)}{r^2} + \lambda = \kappa^2 \rho(r)$$
(57)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1\right)}{r^2} + \lambda = \kappa^2 \rho(r)$$
(58)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}}{4r} \left[2rb''(r) + 2re^{b(r)} \left(2\lambda - \frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left(1 - rb'(r)\right)}{r^2} \right) - rb'^2(r) \right]$$
(59)

$$+\frac{e^{-b(r)}}{4r}\left[\left(2-rb'(r)\right)b'(r)+2b'(r)+\frac{4\left(1-rb'(r)\right)}{r}\right] = -\kappa^2 p_t(r)$$
(60)

Now we have that the scalar of nonmetricity is,

$$\mathbb{Q} = \frac{2e^{-b(r)} \left(rb'(r) - 1\right)}{r^2}.$$
(61)

And the scalar of Ricci is,

$${}^{C}_{R} = \frac{e^{-b(r)} \left[-r^{2} b''(r) + r^{2} b'(r)^{2} - 4r b'(r) - 2e^{b(r)} + 2 \right]}{r^{2}}.$$
(62)

We know that symmetric teleparallel differs from general relativity except for one divergence term. So, to ensure the correctness of our solutions, we take the derivative of the traces of the non-metricity tensor for the black hole case. On this occasion we find the following expression for the boundary term (15),

$$B_Q = \frac{e^{-b(r)} \left[r^2 b''(r) + r^2 \left(-b'(r)^2 \right) + 6rb'(r) + 2e^{b(r)} - 4 \right]}{r^2}.$$
(63)

it is therefore easy to verify that it follows from the Eqs. (61), (62) and (63) in (14) that our solutions are satisfied. For the black hole we consider that $b(r) = -\ln\left(-\frac{2M}{r} - \frac{\lambda r^2}{3} + 1\right)$, which by symmetry gives us the following components $\rho(r) = \frac{2\lambda}{\kappa^2}$, and $p_t(r) = -\frac{2\lambda}{\kappa^2}$. Which recover the black hole solutions of general relativity. For these conditions the non-metricity scalar is described by

$$\mathbb{Q} = 2\lambda - \frac{2}{r^2}.$$
(64)

And the Ricci scalar is,

$$\overset{C}{R} = -4\lambda. \tag{65}$$

The total derivative term becomes,

$$B_Q = 6\lambda - \frac{2}{r^2}.$$
(66)

Again using (14) we verify that the expressions for the nonmetricity scalars (64) and Ricci, together with the term (66), guarantee the veracity of our solutions.

As we commented above, the non-metricity scalar (64) may not adequately indicate what happens to spacetime, but for this solution in particular, the Kretschmann K is divergent at the point r = 0, indicating a singularity at r = 0, and

this time the non-metricity scalar correctly indicates what happens to spacetime in the case of r = 0 which diverges. Moreover, the analysis of geodesics for this approach leads to the same results as [126, 127].

4.2 Black hole solution considering $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

For this case we will use $b(r) = -2\ln\left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)$, where $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ we have,

$$-\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left(ra'(r)+1\right)}{r^2} = 0,$$
(67)

whose solution is,

$$a(r) = -\ln\left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right).$$
(68)

Where r_0 is a constant. We will use in our solutions $r_0 = 1$.

We note that the Kretschmann scalar for this case diverges in the limit from $r \rightarrow 0$. And the Kretschmann scalar analyzed at the horizon radius, is described by $1/4M^4$. In the limit of $r \rightarrow \infty$ the Kretschmann scalar now shows an asymptotically flat behavior.

The equation of the geodesic (46), which is described by the parameters a(r) and b(r), is thus in this case dated by

$$\dot{r}^{2} = -\frac{1}{r} \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} \right)^{2} \left(E^{2} r^{2} + \frac{l^{2}}{r} \right) + \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} \right)^{2} \epsilon,$$
(69)

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

We verify that the geodesic equation (69) for r is very small. We note that the solution obtained for r(s) diverges when we take the limit of $s \to -\infty$, which thus implies that this geodesic equation is extensible. As well as for very large r, where we have that the geodesic equation is also extensible to future infinity. Now when we now consider this geodesic equation (69) for $r \to 0$, we have as a solution a function of r(s) described by the following approximation $r(s) \sim s^{1/3}$. This approximation shows us that the geodesic equation is not extensible to any real value. This result can be confirmed using the Kretschmann scalar $\overset{c}{K}$, which diverges in the limit $r(s) \rightarrow 0$, which agrees with our previously discussed result. We also note that the solution of the geodesic equation, when evaluated at the horizon radius, presents r(s) proportional to a constant, i.e., the geodesic equation is extensible at this horizon.

Let us assume the following functions f(r) = 0, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$. Now the components (49–53) are given by,

$$\rho(r) = \frac{4M^2}{\kappa^2 r^4},$$
(70)

$$p_r(r) = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2 r^2},$$
(71)

$$p_t(r) = \frac{r^2 - 4M^2}{4\kappa^2 r^4}.$$
(72)

Since we are doing $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, we have that the Ricci scalar (13) becomes,

$${}^{C}_{R} = -\frac{12M^2 + r^2}{2r^4},$$
(73)

where the divergence term (15) is given by,

$$B_Q = \frac{12M^2 + r^2}{2r^4}.$$
(74)

Then, we have that *R* and B_Q satisfy (14).

Since we have treated a case where the non-metricity scalar $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, we cannot treat this scalar to explore the divergences of the space, but to compensate, the boundary term B_Q is divergent, indicating a singularity. As we have already mentioned above, $\overset{C}{K}$ also diverges at this point.

$$K = \frac{1296M^4 - 1920M^3r + 952M^2r^2 - 160Mr^3 + 17r^4}{4r^8}.$$
 (75)

5 Regular Black Hole solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory

Regular black hole solutions are appreciated because they avoid divergences. In this context, we want to find regular STEGR solutions and Bardeen-type black hole solutions in this section. Then we note that the equations found agree with the expressions of the general relativity theory. We also study solutions where we consider the non-metricity scalar to be zero, and consequently analyze the expressions of the energy conditions.

However, although we call them regular black holes, these solutions are singular, because of the functional form of the metric component.

5.1 Regular Black Hole solutions at STTEGR

Regular black hole solutions in STTEGR can be obtained when we consider in (41–45), $f(r) = \mathbb{Q}$, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$, having the non-metricity scalar,

$$\mathbb{Q} = -\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left(ra'(r)+1\right)}{r^2}.$$
(76)

Therefore, the evolutionary equations in STTEGR are,

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1\right)}{r^2} = \kappa^2 \rho(r),\tag{77}$$

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(e^{b(r)} - ra'(r) - 1\right)}{r^2} = -\kappa^2 p_r(r),$$
(78)
$$e^{-b(r)}\left[2b'(r) - 2a'(r)\right]$$

$$4r \left[2b'(r) - 2a'(r) + r \left(a'(r)b'(r) - a'(r)^2 - 2a''(r) + 2e^{b(r)}\mathbb{Q}(r) - 2e^{b(r)}\mathbb{Q}'(r) \right) \right] = -\kappa^2 p_t(r).$$
(79)

In spherical symmetry, by making $p_r(r) = -\rho(r)$ and imposing a(r) = -b(r), the evolutionary equations are reduced as,

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)} \Big[rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1 \Big]}{r^2} = \kappa^2 \rho(r)$$
(80)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)} \left[rb'(r) + e^{b(r)} - 1 \right]}{r^2} = \kappa^2 \rho(r)$$
(81)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)} \Big[2rb''(r) - rb'(r)^2 + (2 - rb'(r))b'(r) + 2b'(r) \Big]}{4r}$$

= $-\kappa^2 p_t(r)$ (82)

5.2 Solution for the regular Bardeen black hole

The Bardeen model is a particular case given by $b(r) = -\ln\left(1 - \frac{2Mr^2}{(q^2+r^2)^{3/2}}\right)$, so the equations of motion from the expressions (80–82) are,

$$\frac{6Mq^2}{\kappa^2 \left(q^2 + r^2\right)^{5/2}} = \rho(r),\tag{83}$$

$$\frac{M\left(9q^2r^2 - 6q^4\right)}{\kappa^2\left(q^2 + r^2\right)^{7/2}} = p_t(r).$$
(84)

Now, in this case, the non-merticity scalar takes the form of,

$$\mathbb{Q} = \frac{12Mq^2}{\left(q^2 + r^2\right)^{5/2}} - \frac{2}{r^2}.$$
(85)

From the definition of the de Ricci scalar we obtain,

$${}^{C}_{R} = \frac{6Mq^{2}\left(r^{2} - 4q^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{7/2}}.$$
(86)

The boundary term is described by,

$$B_Q = \frac{6Mq^2r^2}{\left(q^2 + r^2\right)^{7/2}} + \frac{36Mq^4}{\left(q^2 + r^2\right)^{7/2}} - \frac{2}{r^2},\tag{87}$$

therefore, we have that the Eqs. (85), (86) and (87) satisfy the equation (14). We see that the non-metricity scalar (85) diverges in the limit $r \rightarrow 0$, but by subtracting (87), we see that the Ricci scalar (86) is always finite for any value of the coodenate r.

This solution presents a divergence due to the metric function a(r), which was obtained from the metric function b(r)from the Bardeen model and through $\mathbb{Q} = 0$. This is reflected in other quantities like the geodesics and the curvature scalar.

Calculating the value of the Kretschmann K for the Bardeen metric, we see that the Kretschmann scalar is finite for any value of the radial coordinate, which proves that this spacetime is regular. Also here we find out that only with the analysis of the non-metricity scalar it is not possible to determine what happens with the space-time.

5.3 First solution of regular black holes with the zero non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

Suppose that $b(r) = -2 \ln \left[1 - 2Mr^2/(r^2 + q^2)^{3/2} \right]$ and in this way we can find the solution for a(r) from the condition $\mathbb{Q} = 0$. In the case of regular black holes, the non-metricity scalar (7), becomes

$$0 = -\frac{2e^{-b(r)}[ra'(r)+1]}{r^2},$$
(88)

then we find the following solution,

$$a(r) = -\ln\left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right) \tag{89}$$

where r_0 is a constant. We will use $r_0 = 1$.

We also compute the Kretschamnn scalar in terms of the metric functions a(r) and b(r) of this case, so we see that this scalar diverges when we evaluate the limit $r \rightarrow 0$. Evaluating the Kretschmann scalar on the horizon radius, we see that this scalar depends only on the constants which are present in this case. And when we analyze the Kretschmann scalar for $r \rightarrow \infty$, we notice an asymptotically flat behavior.

The equation of the geodesic for this case becomes,

$$\dot{r}^{2} = -\frac{1}{r} \left(E^{2} r^{2} + \frac{l^{2}}{r} \right) \left(1 - \frac{2Mr^{2}}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3/2}} \right)^{2} + \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{2Mr^{2}}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3/2}} \right)^{2}, \tag{90}$$

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

Checking the geodesic equation (90) for $r \to \infty$, we note that the solution found for r(s) is extensible when we make $s \to \infty$. From this we conclude that the geodesic equation is extensible to this limit. And when we consider r to be very small, we also find that the geodesic equation is extensible. When we evaluate the geodesic equation at the horizon radius, we obtain a solution for $r(s) \sim s^2$, indicating that this geodesic equation is extensible. To simplify the equations we will adopt that $f(\mathbb{Q}) = 0$, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$. From the evolutionary equations, but taking into account the symmetry in question, it follows that the components of the momentum–energy tensor are written in the form,

$$\kappa^{2}\rho(r) = \frac{4M\left(M\left(r^{4} - 5q^{2}r^{2}\right) + 3q^{2}\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3/2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}},$$
(91)

$$\kappa^2 p_r(r) = -\frac{1}{r^2},\tag{92}$$

$$\kappa^{2} p_{t}(r) = -\frac{M^{2} r^{2} \left(r^{2} - 5q^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}} - \frac{3Mq^{2}}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{5/2}} + \frac{1}{4r^{2}}.$$
(93)

Performing the limit $r \to 0$ we have that $\rho(r) \to 6 M/q^3 \kappa^2$, $p_r \to -\infty$ and $p_t \to +\infty$. For the $r \to \infty$ limit, on the other hand, all components are zero.

Since we are considering $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, we have that the Ricci scalar is now given by,

$$\overset{C}{R} = \frac{6M \left(5Mq^{2}r^{2}\sqrt{q^{2}+r^{2}} - Mr^{4}\sqrt{q^{2}+r^{2}} - 3q^{2} \left(q^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{9/2}} - \frac{1}{2r^{2}}.$$
(94)

And the term of divergence (15) reads as,

$$B_{Q} = \frac{6M \left(-5Mq^{2}r^{2}\sqrt{q^{2}+r^{2}}+Mr^{4}\sqrt{q^{2}+r^{2}}+3q^{2} \left(q^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{9/2}} + \frac{1}{2r^{2}}.$$
(95)

And again, it is clear to see, in conjunction with the adopted non-metricity scalar, that the expressions (94) and (95) satisfy (14).

Starting from the equations of motion (91-93) and the expressions of the energy conditions (20-23) for outside the event horizon, i.e. in regions where *t* is the time component, we have that the energy conditions are now given by,

$$NEC_{1} = SEC_{1} = WEC_{1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{4M \left(M \left(r^{4} - 5q^{2}r^{2} \right) + 3q^{2} \left(q^{2} + r^{2} \right)^{3/2} \right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2} \right)^{4}} - \frac{1}{r^{2}} \right] \ge 0$$
(96)

$$NEC_{2} = SEC_{2} = WEC_{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{12M^{2}r^{2}(r^{2} - 5q^{2})}{(q^{2} + r^{2})^{4}} + \frac{36Mq^{2}}{(q^{2} + r^{2})^{5/2}} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \right] \ge 0,$$
(97)

Deringer

$$SEC_{3} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{4M^{2}r^{2} \left(r^{2} - 5q^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}} + \frac{12Mq^{2}}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{5/2}} - \frac{1}{r^{2}} \right] \ge 0,$$

$$(98)$$

$$DEC_{1} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{4M \left(M \left(r^{4} - 5q^{2}r^{2}\right) + 3q^{2} \left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3/2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \right] \ge 0,$$

$$DEC_{2} = \frac{1}{4\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{20M^{2}r^{2} \left(r^{2} - 5q^{2}\right)}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}} + \frac{60Mq^{2}}{\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{5/2}} - \frac{1}{r^{2}} \right] \ge 0,$$
(100)

$$DEC_{3} = WEC_{3}$$

$$= \frac{4M\left(M\left(r^{4} - 5q^{2}r^{2}\right) + 3q^{2}\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3/2}\right)}{\kappa^{2}\left(q^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{4}} \ge 0.$$
(101)

Analyzing our energy conditions above, we find that *NEC*₁, *SEC*₃ and *DEC* are violated when we evaluate these solutions for very small r. And only the NEC_2 energy condition is satisfied. The energy conditions NEC_1 , SEC_3 , DEC_2 and DEC_3 , are violated when we evaluate these energy conditions for very large r. While the energy conditions NEC_2 and the DEC_1 , are satisfied.

We will not show all energy conditions inside the event horizon, neither for this case nor for the cases of the next solutions, because all components of the metric do not change their sign when analyzed inside the event horizon. So we will always have one temporal and three spatial coordinates. It follows that the energy conditions outside the horizon are the same as the energy conditions inside the horizon. So in all following cases, i.e. for solutions of $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, we will show only the energy conditions outside the event horizon.

5.4 Second solution of regular black holes with zero non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

Now let us adopt $b(r) = -2 \ln[1 - 2Mr/(r^2 + A^2)]$. In the case of regular black holes the non-metricity scalar (7) for this case is.

$$0 = -\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\left[ra'(r)+1\right]}{r^2},$$
(102)

whose solution is.

$$a(r) = -\ln\left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right),\tag{103}$$

where r_0 is a constant. We will use $r_0 = 1$.

In this case, the Kretschmann scalar diverges when we take the $r \rightarrow 0$ limit. At the horizon radius the Kretschamnn scalar depends only on the constants. And when we evaluate it at $r \to \infty$, this scalar has an asymptotically flat behavior.

The equation of the geodesic is described by,

$$\dot{r}^{2} = -\frac{1}{r} \left(1 - \frac{2Mr}{A^{2} + r^{2}} \right)^{2} \left(E^{2}r^{2} + \frac{l^{2}}{r} \right) + \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{2Mr}{A^{2} + r^{2}} \right)^{2},$$
(104)

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

By analyzing the geodesic equation (104) for r very large, we obtain a solution for r(s) that diverges at infinity at $s \rightarrow$ ∞ , suggesting that the geodesic equation is extensible at future infinity. When we analyze the equation of the geodesic for $r(s) \rightarrow 0$, we find that the equation of the geodesic is not extensible for this condition. This can also be checked using the Kretschmann scalar, since this scalar diverges in the limit of $r(s) \rightarrow 0$. We now analyze the geodesic equation for the horizon radius, which in this case is given by $r \rightarrow$ $M + \sqrt{M^2 - A^2}$. The solution we obtain for r(s) shows us that this equation is extensible when evaluated in this limit. Therefore, this spacetime is geodesically complete.

Considering $f(\mathbb{Q}) = 0$, $f_O(r) = 1$ and $f_{OO}(r) = 0$. Now the moment-energy tensor has the components as,

$$\kappa^2 \rho(r) = \frac{4M \left(2A^4 + A^2 r (2r - 3M) + Mr^3\right)}{r \left(A^2 + r^2\right)^3},$$
(105)

$$\kappa^2 p_r(r) = -\frac{1}{r^2},$$
(106)

 $\kappa^2 p_t(r) =$

$$\frac{\left(A^2 + r(r-2M)\right)\left(A^4 + 2A^2r(r-3M) + r^3(2M+r)\right)}{4r^2\left(A^2 + r^2\right)^3}.$$
(107)

Performing the limit $r \rightarrow 0$ we have an indeterminacy for the component $\rho(r) \rightarrow 0$, for the other components we have divergences $p_r \to -\infty$ and $p_t \to +\infty$. And for the $r \to -\infty$ $-\infty$ limit the components $\rho(r)$, $p_r(r)$ and $p_t(r)$ are null. Then, the representation of the Ricci scalar is,

$$\frac{C}{R} = -\frac{A^{6}+3A^{4}r(8M+r)+3A^{2}r^{2}\left(-12M^{2}+8Mr+r^{2}\right)+12M^{2}r^{4}+r^{6}}{2r^{2}\left(A^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{3}}$$
(108)

And the expression for the total derivative term (15),

$$B_Q = \frac{A^6 + 3A^4r(8M+r) + 3A^2r^2(-12M^2 + 8Mr + r^2) + 12M^2r^4 + r^6}{2r^2(A^2 + r^2)^3}.$$
(109)

Since the non-metricity scalar is zero, the terms of R (108) differ from B_Q (109) by a negative sign, which guarantees our results of (14). For this solution, since $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ and by the direct relation that $\stackrel{\circ}{R} = -B_O$, we find that for the point at r = 0 a singularity is evident. So we can conclude that for the solutions of $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ the solutions remain singular even if the metric function b(r) is regular. In contrast to the linear theory, it is shown that spacetime is regular even if the nonmetricity scalar is singular and the metric functions a(r) and b(r) are regular.

Thus, the energy conditions outside the horizon are,

STEGR starting from the Simpson–Visser interpretation and then or the cases where we consider the non-metricity scalar to be zero.We note that the equations of the components of the momentum–energy tensor, which we obtain in the case of STEGR, are the same as in the case of the black-bounce of general relativity. For each case we address, we calculate the energy conditions and discuss their authenticity.

$$NEC_{1} = SEC_{1} = WEC_{1} = \frac{1}{r^{2}\kappa^{2}} \left[\frac{4Mr \left(2A^{4} + A^{2}r(2r - 3M) + Mr^{3} \right)}{\left(A^{2} + r^{2} \right)^{3}} - 1 \right] \ge 0,$$
(110)

$$NEC_{2} = SEC_{2} = WEC_{2} = \frac{A^{6} + 3A^{4}r(8M+r) + 3A^{2}r^{2}(-12M^{2} + 8Mr + r^{2}) + 12M^{2}r^{4} + r^{6}}{4\kappa^{2}r^{2}(A^{2} + r^{2})^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(111)

$$SEC_{3} = \frac{-A^{6} + A^{4}r(8M - 3r) + A^{2}r^{2}\left(-12M^{2} + 8Mr - 3r^{2}\right) + 4M^{2}r^{4} - r^{6}}{2\kappa^{2}r^{2}\left(A^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(112)

$$DEC1 = \frac{1}{\kappa^2 r^2} \left[\frac{4Mr \left(2A^4 + A^2 r (2r - 3M) + Mr^3 \right)}{\left(A^2 + r^2\right)^3} + 1 \right] \ge 0,$$
(113)

$$DEC_{2} = \frac{-A^{6} + A^{4}r(40M - 3r) + A^{2}r^{2} \left(-60M^{2} + 40Mr - 3r^{2}\right) + 20M^{2}r^{4} - r^{6}}{4\kappa^{2}r^{2} \left(A^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(114)

$$DEC_{3} = WEC_{3} = \frac{4M\left(2A^{4} + A^{2}r(2r - 3M) + Mr^{3}\right)}{\kappa^{2}r\left(A^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0.$$
(115)

We note that the energy conditions NEC_1 , SEC_3 , and DEC_2 are violated for very small r, while the energy conditions NEC_2 , DEC_1 and DEC_3 are satisfied. And for r very large, the energy conditions NEC_1 , SEC_3 , DEC_2 are violated, while the energy conditions NEC_2 , DEC_1 , and DEC_3 are satisfied.

6 Black-bounce solutions in the $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory

We will now examine the black-bounce solutions in $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory. Complementing this, we develop the solutions for

Black-bounce type solutions are obtained by considering the static spherically symmetric line element (36), recall

$$ds^{2} = e^{a(r)}dt^{2} - e^{b(r)}dr^{2} - \Sigma(r)^{2} \left[d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}(\theta) d\phi^{2} \right],$$

whose the evolutionary equations are given by (41-45).

6.1 Solutions of black-bounce in symmetric teleparallel theory equivalent to general relativity (STTEGR)

Here, too, we can obtain black-bounce solutions in STTEGR with the help of the evolutionary equations (41–45) $f(\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}$, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$.

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)} \left[\Sigma(r) \left(b'(r) \Sigma'(r) - 2\Sigma''(r) \right) + e^{b(r)} - \Sigma'(r)^2 \right]}{\Sigma(r)^2} = \kappa^2 \rho(r),$$
(116)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)} \left[\Sigma(r)a'(r)\Sigma'(r) - e^{b(r)} + \Sigma'(r)^2 \right)}{\Sigma(r)^2} = \kappa^2 p_r(r),$$
(117)

$$\frac{e^{-b(r)}\left(-2a'(r)\Sigma'(r)-\Sigma(r)\left(2a''(r)-a'(r)b'(r)+a'(r)^2\right)+2b'(r)\Sigma'(r)-4\Sigma''(r)\right]}{4\Sigma(r)} = -\kappa^2 p_t(r).$$
(118)

Using the symmetry where a(r) = -b(r), $\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2}$ and $b(r) = -\ln [1 - (2M/\Sigma(r))]$, we find the following components,

$$\rho(r) = -\frac{L_0^2 \left(\sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2} - 4M\right)}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^{5/2}},$$
(119)

$$p_r(r) = -\frac{L_0^2}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^2},$$
(120)

$$p_t(r) = \frac{L_0^2 \left(\sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2} - M \right)}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2 \right)^{5/2}}.$$
(121)

Note that the expressions (119–121) are the same blackbounce solutions obtained in the Simpson–Visser model of general relativity [60]. So, from symmetric teleparallel theory we get the same black-bounce solutions as with the general relativity theory.

Now we have that the non-metricity scalar is given by,

$$\mathbb{Q} = -\frac{2r^2}{\left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^2}.$$
(122)

Thus, the Ricci scalar is,

$${}_{R}^{C} = \frac{2L_{0}^{2} \left(\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - 3M\right)}{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{5/2}}.$$
(123)

We get the following expression for the boundary term,

$$B_Q = \frac{6{L_0}^2 M}{\left({L_0}^2 + r^2\right)^{5/2}} - \frac{2}{{L_0}^2 + r^2},$$
(124)

and from the expressions (122), (123) and (124) it follows again that the relation (14) is satisfied. We can verify that (122), (123) and (124), are always finite for any value of the radial coordinate r.

We note here that, unlike solutions for black holes and regular black holes, both the non-metricity scalar \mathbb{Q} and the boundary term B_Q are always regular throughout spacetime. This was not the case even for the Minkowski metric.

6.2 First black-bounce solution with zero non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

Black-bounce solutions can be obtained by means of the following imposition $\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2}$, where we use $b(r) = -2 \ln [1 - (2 M / \Sigma(r))]$, this way we get the arbitrary function a(r). So we can make $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ to get the function

a(r). The equation (7) becomes,

$$-\frac{2e^{-b(r)}\Sigma'(r)\left[\Sigma(r)a'(r) + \Sigma'(r)\right]}{\Sigma^2(r)} = 0.$$
 (125)

so we have the following solution for a(r),

$$a(r) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{L_0^2 + r^2}{r_0^2}\right).$$
 (126)

where r_0 is a constant. We will use $r_0 = 1$.

We verified from the solution (126) and the parameter b(r), that the Kretschamnn scalar behaves regularly in spacetime. For we note that the Kretschmann scalar is regular for any value of r and that in the middle, i.e. in the limit $r(r) \rightarrow 0$, this scalar behaves like a constant which depends only on mand L_0 . At the radius of the horizon the scalar also behaves like a constant. And at $r \rightarrow \infty$ this scalar is asymptotically flat.

The equation of the geodesic (46) for this case is,

$$\left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^{2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}} \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}}\right)^{2} \times \left(E^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right) + \frac{l^{2}}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}}\right) + \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}}\right)^{2}, \quad (127)$$

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

We note that the geodesic equation (127), when analyzed for $r \to \infty$, yields a solution for r(s) that diverges at $s \to \infty$, implying that the geodesic equation is extensible to future infinity. This equation is also extensible when we evaluate for very small r(s). We also note that the solution we obtain in this case gives us a geodesic equation that is also extensible to $r(s) \to 0$. This result can be confirmed by the Kretschmann scalar, which we discussed earlier. Now analyzing the geodesic equation for the horizon radius $r_H = \sqrt{4M^2 - L_0^2}$, we find from the solution we obtain for r(s) that the equation (127) is also extensible at r_H . Therefore, this space-time is geodesically complete.

To simplify the equations for the components of the momentum-energy tensor, we assume the following functions: $f(\mathbb{Q}) = 0$, $f_Q(r) = 1$, and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$. Thus, the components of the moment-energy tensor resulting from the expressions (41–45) and (126) are

$$\rho(r) = -\frac{L_0^4 + L_0^2 \left[8M \left(M - \sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2} \right) + r^2 \right] - 4M^2 r^2}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2 \right)^3}, \quad (128)$$

$$p_{r}(r) = -\frac{1}{\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)},$$

$$p_{t}(r) = \frac{2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(8M \left(M - \sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}\right) + 3r^{2}\right) - 4M^{2}r^{2} + r^{4}}{4\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}}.$$
(129)
(129)

Let us now analyze the limit of the components $\rho(r)$, $p_r(r)$, and $p_t(r)$ to ensure that the solutions are free of divergences in spacetime. In this way, we can derive the necessary fluid for the case when $\mathbb{Q} = 0$. Then, taking the limit of $r \to \infty$ we will have $(\rho(r), p_r(r), p_t(r)) \to 0$, and for $r \to 0$,

$$\rho(r) \to \frac{8M\left(\sqrt{L_0^2} - M\right) - L_0^2}{\kappa^2 L_0^4},$$
(131)

$$p_r(r) \to -\frac{1}{\kappa^2 L_0^2},\tag{132}$$

$$p_t(r) \to \frac{-4\sqrt{L_0^2}M + L_0^2 + 4M^2}{2\kappa^2 L_0^4}.$$
 (133)

Note that we cannot determine the liquid in the infinite future. At the origin of the system, we find that the density components and the radial and tangential pressures depend on a certain value of L_0 .

Now the ricci scalar has the shape,

$${}_{R}^{C} = \frac{2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(-24M \sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} + 24M^{2} + r^{2}\right) - r^{2} \left(12M^{2} + r^{2}\right)}{2 \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}}.$$
(134)

With the boundary term (15) being,

$$B_{Q} = \frac{-2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(24M \left(\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - M\right) - r^{2}\right) + 12M^{2}r^{2} + r^{4}}{2 \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}},$$
(135)

so since $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, the scalar (134) and the boundary term (135) are relations satisfying the equation (14). Now spacetime is always regular. This time the scalars give us the correct interpretation that spacetime remains regular for any value of the radial coordinate.

By means of the Eqs. (128-130), we can develop the energy conditions for regions outside the horizon being given by,

$$NEC_{1} = SEC_{1} = WEC_{1}$$

$$= \frac{-2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(8M\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - 8M^{2} - 3r^{2} \right) + 4M^{2}r^{2} - r^{4}}{\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0$$
(136)

$$NEC_{2} = SEC_{2} = WEC_{2}$$

$$= \frac{-2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(24M\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - 24M^{2} - r^{2}\right) + 12M^{2}r^{2} + r^{4}}{4\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(137)

$$SEC_{3} = \frac{-2L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(8M\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - 8M^{2} - 3r^{2} \right) + 4M^{2}r^{2} - r^{4}}{2\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2} \right)^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(138)

$$DEC1 = \frac{L_0^2 \left(8M\sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2} - 8M^2 + r^2 \right) + 4M^2 r^2 + r^4}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^3} \ge 0,$$
(139)

$$DEC_{2} = \frac{-6L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(40M\sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}} - 40M^{2} - 7r^{2}\right) + 20M^{2}r^{2} - r^{4}}{4\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0,$$
(140)

$$DEC_{3} = WEC_{3}$$

$$= -\frac{L_{0}^{4} + L_{0}^{2} \left(8M \left(M - \sqrt{L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}}\right) + r^{2}\right) - 4M^{2}r^{2}}{\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{3}} \ge 0.$$
(141)

In this case only NEC_2 is violated, the other energy conditions are satisfied for very small r. The energy conditions DEC_1 and DEC_3 are satisfied for very large r, while the other energy conditions are violated.

6.3 Second black-bounce solution with zero non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

For this case we will consider $b(r) = -2\ln[1-2Mr/(L_0^2+r^2)]$ and $\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{L_0^2+r^2}$, the solution to a(r) is given by,

$$a(r) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{L_0^2 + r^2}{r_0^2}\right),$$
(142)

where r_0 is a constant. We will use $r_0 = 1$.

We note that the Kretschamnn scalar for this case also shows a regular behavior in spacetime for any value of r. In the limit of $r \to 0$ this scalar behaves like a constant and is proportional to $K \sim L_0^{-4}$. In the horizon radius this scalar also behaves like a constant which depends on m and L_0 . And in the limit of $r \to \infty$ the solution shows an asymptotically flat behavior.

The equation of the geodesic (46) is now described by,

$$\left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^2 = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2}} \left(1 - \frac{2Mr}{L_0^2 + r^2}\right)^2 \times \left(E^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right) + \frac{l^2}{\sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2}}\right) + \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{2Mr}{L_0^2 + r^2}\right)^2, (143)$$

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

We note that the solution obtained from the equation of the geodesics (143), if analyzed very large for r, is extensible to future infinity. This equation can also extensible to very small r. We also note that the geodesic equation in this case is extensible to $r(s) \rightarrow 0$. This can be confirmed with our result for the Kretschmann scalar described earlier. For the radius of the horizon $r \rightarrow r_H$, which in this case is given by $r_H = M + \sqrt{M^2 - L^2}$, we note that the geodesic equation is also extensible. Therefore this space-time is geodesically complete.

Assuming that the following functions are $f(\mathbb{Q}) = 0$, $f_Q(r) = 1$, and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$, we obtain the following components of the momentum–energy tensor from the expressions (41–45) and (142), which are now described as follows

$$\rho(r) = -\frac{L_0^6 + 2L_0^4 r(r - 6M) + L_0^2 r^2 \left(16M^2 - 12Mr + r^2\right) - 4M^2 r^4}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^4},$$
(144)

$$p_r(r) = -\frac{1}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)},$$
(145)

$$\frac{\left[L_0^2 + r(r-2M)\right] \left[2L_0^4 + L_0^2 r(3r-8M) + r^3(2M+r)\right]}{4\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^4}.$$
 (146)

The asymptotic limits of $r \to \infty$ for the components are null $(\rho(r), p_r(r), p_t(r)) \to 0$, and for $r \to 0$ they reduce to,

$$\rho(r) \to -\frac{1}{\kappa^2 L_0^2},\tag{147}$$

$$p_r(r) \to -\frac{1}{\kappa^2 L_0^2},$$
 (148)

$$p_t(r) \to \frac{1}{2\kappa^2 L_0^2}.\tag{149}$$

At the origin of the system, we see that the density components and the radial and tangential pressures depend on a certain value of L_0 .

For this case we have the following Ricci scalar,

$$\frac{{}^{C}_{R}}{2L_{0}^{6}+3L_{0}^{4}r(r-12M)+12L_{0}^{2}Mr^{2}(4M-3r)-r^{4}\left(12M^{2}+r^{2}\right)}{2\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{4}}.$$
 (150)

Then we have,

$$\frac{B_Q}{\frac{-2L_0^6 + 3L_0^4 r(12M - r) + 12L_0^2 M r^2(3r - 4M) + 12M^2 r^4 + r^6}{2\left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^4}}, \quad (151)$$

again we have that the expressions (150) and (151) satisfy the expression (14). The space-time is always regular.

From the components of (144–146), the energy conditions for regions outside the horizon are,

$$NEC_{1} = SEC_{1} = WEC_{1}$$

$$= \frac{-2L_{0}^{6} + L_{0}^{4}r(12M - 5r) - 4L_{0}^{2}r^{2}(4M^{2} - 3Mr + r^{2}) + 4M^{2}r^{4} - r^{6}}{\kappa^{2}(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2})^{4}} \ge 0,$$
(152)

NEC₂

WEC

$$= \frac{52C_2}{2} = \frac{wEC_2}{4k^2(L_0^2 + r^2)^4} \ge 0,$$

$$SEC_3 = -\frac{2L_0^6 + L_0^4 r(5r - 12M) + 4L_0^2 r^2(4M^2 - 3Mr + r^2) - 4M^2 r^4 + r^6}{2\kappa^2(L_0^2 + r^2)^4} \ge 0,$$
(153)
(154)

$$DEC1 = \frac{r\left(L_0^4(12M+r) + 2L_0^2r\left(-8M^2 + 6Mr + r^2\right) + 4M^2r^3 + r^5\right)}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^4} \ge 0,$$
(155)

 DEC_2

$$= -\frac{6L_0^6 + L_0^4 r (13r - 60M) + 4L_0^2 r^2 (20M^2 - 15Mr + 2r^2) - 20M^2 r^4 + r^6}{4\kappa^2 (L_0^2 + r^2)^4} \ge 0,$$
(156)

 DEC_3 = WEC_3

$$= -\frac{L_0^6 + 2L_0^4 r(r - 6M) + L_0^2 r^2 \left(16M^2 - 12Mr + r^2\right) - 4M^2 r^4}{\kappa^2 \left(L_0^2 + r^2\right)^4} \ge 0.$$
(157)

We note that all energy conditions are violated for very small r. The energy conditions NEC_1 , SEC_3 and DEC_2 are violated for too large r, while the other energy conditions are satisfied.

6.4 Third black-bounce solution with zero non-metricity scalar, $\mathbb{Q} = 0$

In the latter case we will assume $b(r) = -2 \ln [1 - 2M/\Sigma(r)]$, but with,

$$\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{\left(L_0^2 + r^2\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_0}{r_1^2 + r^2}\right)},$$
(158)

we use this proposal with the intention of obtaining blackbounce solutions satisfying NEC_1 . The solution is,

$$a(r) = -\frac{r_0}{2\left(r_1^2 + r^2\right)} - \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\frac{L_0^2 + r^2}{r_3^2}\right),$$
(159)

where r_3 is a constant. We will use $r_3 = 1$.

The Kretschamnn scalar behaves in this case like a constant in the limit $r \rightarrow 0$. In the horizon radius this scalar also behaves like a constant. However, when we evaluate the scalar for $r \rightarrow 0$, we do not find asymptotically flat behavior.

$$\left(\frac{dr}{ds}\right)^{2} = -\frac{e^{-\frac{r_{0}}{2(r^{2}+r_{1}^{2})}}}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}}} \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2})e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}}}\right)^{2} \\ \times \left(\frac{l^{2}e^{-\frac{r_{0}}{2(r^{2}+r_{1}^{2})}}}{\sqrt{L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}}} + E^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}\right) + \\ + \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2})e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}}}\right)^{2}$$
(160)

where l is the angular momentum and E is the energy.

The solution of the geodesic equation for r(s) very large (160), is an extensible solution at future infinity. And the geodesic equation for r(s) very small, is a solution that is also extensible. Now the solution of r(s) given by (160) is also extensible for $r(s) \rightarrow 0$. We also note that this equation, analyzed at the radius of the horizon, is also extensible. Therefore, this spacetime is geodesically complete.

Considering again the functions $f(\mathbb{Q}) = 0$, $f_Q(r) = 1$ and $f_{QQ}(r) = 0$, the components of the moment-energy tensor are given by,

$$\rho(r) = \frac{1}{\kappa^{2} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)^{2}} \begin{cases} \left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right) e^{-\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}} - \frac{r^{2} \left(-L_{0}^{2} r_{0} + r^{4} - r^{2} \left(r_{0} - 2r_{1}^{2}\right) + r_{1}^{4}\right)^{2} \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}}}\right)^{2}}{\left(r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}\right)^{4}} & (161) \end{cases} \\ - \frac{2 \left(1 - \frac{2M}{\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}}}\right)^{2}}{\left(r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}\right)^{4} \left(\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}} - 2M\right)} \left[r^{4} r_{0} \left(r^{4} + r^{2} \left(r_{0} - 2r_{1}^{2}\right) - 3r_{1}^{4}\right) \sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}}} + 2Mr^{2} \left(r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}\right) \left(r^{6} + 3r^{4} \left(r_{1}^{2} - r_{0}\right) + r^{2}r_{1}^{2} \left(r_{0} + 3r_{1}^{2}\right) + r_{1}^{6}\right) + L_{0}^{4} r_{0} \left(\left(3r^{4} + r^{2} \left(r_{0} + 2r_{1}^{2}\right) - r_{1}^{4}\right) \times \sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}} + 2M \left(-3r^{4} - 2r^{2}r_{1}^{2} + r_{1}^{4}\right)\right)} \\ + L_{0}^{2} \left(\left(r^{8} + 4r^{6} \left(r_{0} + r_{1}^{2}\right) + 2r^{4} \left(r_{0}^{2} + 3r_{1}^{4}\right) + 4r^{2}r_{1}^{4} \left(r_{1}^{2} - r_{0}\right) + r_{1}^{8}\right)} \times \sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2} + r^{2}\right)}e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}}} - 2M \left(r^{2} + r_{1}^{2}\right) \left(r^{6} + 3r^{4} \left(2r_{0} + r_{1}^{2}\right) + r^{2} \left(3r_{1}^{4} - 2r_{0}r_{1}^{2}\right) + r_{1}^{6}\right)\right)\right]\right\}.$$
(162)

$$p_{r}(r) = -\frac{e^{-\frac{r_{0}}{r_{1}^{2}+r^{2}}}}{\kappa^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)},$$

$$(163)$$

$$p_{l}(r) = \frac{-4r^{8}\left(Mr_{0}-r_{1}^{2}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}}\right) + r^{6}\left(\left(3r_{0}^{2}-8r_{0}r_{1}^{2}+6r_{1}^{4}\right)\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} - 4Mr_{0}\left(r_{0}-2r_{1}^{2}\right)\right)}{4\kappa^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}} + 3Mr_{0}\right) + r^{2}r_{1}^{8}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + r^{10}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + 4r^{4}r_{1}^{4}\left(\left(r_{1}^{2}-2r_{0}\right)\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}} + 3Mr_{0}\right) + r^{2}r_{1}^{8}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + r^{10}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + 4\kappa^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}} + 4\kappa^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{2}\left(r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}\right)^{4}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} - 4M\left(3r^{4}+r^{2}\left(r_{0}+2r_{1}^{2}\right)-r_{1}^{4}\right)\right)} + 4\kappa^{2}\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)^{2}\left(r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}\right)^{4}\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + 2L_{0}^{2}\left[\left(r^{8}+r^{6}\left(3r_{0}+4r_{1}^{2}\right)+r^{4}\left(3r_{0}^{2}-2r_{0}r_{1}^{2}+6r_{1}^{4}\right)+r^{2}\left(4r_{1}^{6}-5r_{0}r_{1}^{4}\right)+r_{1}^{8}\right)\sqrt{\left(L_{0}^{2}+r^{2}\right)e^{\frac{r_{0}}{r^{2}+r_{1}^{2}}}} + 2Mr_{0}\left(r^{8}+4r^{6}\left(r_{0}+r_{1}^{2}\right)+2r^{4}\left(r_{0}^{2}+3r_{1}^{4}\right)+4r^{2}r_{1}^{4}\left(r_{1}^{2}-r_{0}\right)+r_{1}^{8}\right)\right].$$

$$(164)$$

We also check in this case that the condition (14) is satisfied.

The energy conditions resulting from (162-164) are reproduced in the Fig. 1 from the null energy condition (because they turn out to be quite extensive and challenging), where the regions outside the event horizon are represented by the solid red curve and the regions inside the horizon by the dotted-trace curves with blue color.

From the energy conditions (162-164) we see that NEC_1 , as shown in Fig. 1, is satisfied for $r_1 \rightarrow \infty$ and from $-r_1$ to $-\infty$. Here r_1 is a value inside the horizon violated near the throat. However, in general relativity, most models described by the relation $\Sigma''(r)/\Sigma(r) > 0$ imply that NEC_1 or NEC_2 are always violated. Unlike our model, where this condition is satisfied [128]. When we consider r very large, we find that NEC_2 is also satisfied, as is DEC_1 . On the other hand, SEC_3 and DEC_2 are violated. We note, however, that the energy condition DEC_3 may or may not be violated by the choice of constants.

7 Conclusion

In this paper we study solutions of black holes, regular black holes and black-bounce spacetime in the theory $f(\mathbb{Q})$ using the coincident gauge. This theory is an extension of the symmetric teleparallel theory, where we use arbitrary functions of the non-metricity scalar \mathbb{Q} in the action. We analyze the linear cases of our solutions and the solutions with the constraint $\mathbb{Q} = 0$. We also calculate the Kretschmann scalar to observe regularities of spacetime, and briefly discuss the causal structure of spacetime using geodesics and the energy conditions of regular black holes and black-bounce. We also calculate the Kretschmann scalar to observe regularities of spacetime and briefly discuss the causal structure of spacetime using geodesics, and the energy conditions of the solutions of regular black holes and black-bounce.

In the black hole solutions discussed in Sect. 4, we obtain the linear case where we analyze the Kretschmann scalar and



find a divergence at r = 0, this is a singularity. For the causal structure, we note that the geodesic equation is not extensible along spacetime in this case. This agrees with the result we obtained, for example, with the Kretschmann scalar for $r \rightarrow 0$. For the causal structure, we note that the geodesic equation is not extensible along spacetime in this case. This agrees with the result we obtained with the Kretschmann scalar for $r \rightarrow 0$. We solve with $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ (4.2), use the metric function given by $b(r) = -2 \ln [1 - 2M/\Sigma(r)]$, and obtain $a(r) = -\ln (r/r_0)$. So we find that spacetime is not geodesically complete. And by the Kretschmann scalar we have a spacetime which is not regular.

We also obtain the solutions for regular black holes Sect. 5. For the Bardeen model, i.e., the linear case, we analyze the Kretschmann scalar and verify that our solutions are regular throughout spacetime. In the next case Sect. 5.1, we use the metric function $b(r) = -2 \ln \left[1 - \frac{2Mr^2}{(r^2 + q^2)^{3/2}} \right]$ in the constraint where $\mathbb{Q} = 0$, and consequently find the free function $a(r) = -\ln (r/r_0)$. Using the metric functions b(r) and a(r), we find that the geodesics are extensible over the entire spacetime. Therefore, this spacetime is geodesically complete. We calculate the energy density and the radial and tangential pressures. We find that this fluid, or rather the radial and tangential pressure components, diverge at the origin of spacetime. In the origin the density is determined by a certain value of the parameter q and in the future infinity all components are equal to zero. This is confirmed by the Kretschmann scalar, which diverges at $r \rightarrow 0$ and shows an asymptotically asymptotic flat behavior for $r \to \infty$. The energy conditions show that only NEC_2 is satisfied for very small r, while for very large r only NEC_2 and DEC_1 are satisfied. In the second case of RBH Sect. 5.2, with the non-metricity scalar zero, we use the metric function given by $b(r) = -2\ln[1 - 2Mr/(r^2 + A^2)]$, so that we find $a(r) = -\ln (r/r_0)$. Therefore, we can prove that the

spacetime of this solution is geodesically complete. On the other hand, even if the non-metricity scalar is singular, we have that the metric functions a(r) and b(r) are regular, and consequently it shows that spacetime is regular. The energy conditions NEC_1 , SEC_3 and DEC_2 are violated for very small r, while the other energy conditions are satisfied. And the energy conditions for very large r show for this case that NEC_1 , SEC_3 and DEC_2 are violated, while the others are satisfied.

In Sect. 6 we study the solutions in the context of blackbounce. We verify for the case (STEGR) in Sect. 6.1 that the (119-121) are the same solutions as in the Simpson-Visser model of GR. And we also note that the non-metricity scalar (122) and the boundary term (124) are regular throughout spacetime. This is in contrast to solutions for black holes and regular black holes, where we do not have a regular non-metricity scalar throughout spacetime. In the first blackbounce case with $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ (Sect. 6.2), we used the metric function $b(r) = -2 \ln \left[1 - (2M/\Sigma(r))\right]$ and $\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{L_0^2 + r^2}$ to obtain the free function $a(r) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \left(\frac{L_0^2 + r^2}{r_0^2}\right)$, which is regular over spacetime. From the functions a(r) and b(r) in this case, we verify that the Kretschamnn scalar has regular behavior along spacetime. And we also examine the causal structure and find that this space-time is geodesically complete. We calculate the components of the fluid associated with this case, and by analyzing these components at the origin, we find that this fluid depends on constants such as L_0 . And with infinite future all components are zero. Checking the energy conditions for this fluid, we see that only NEC_2 is satisfied, while the others are violated for r very small. And for very large r only DEC_1 and DEC_3 are satisfied.

In the second black-bounce solution with $\mathbb{Q} = 0$ (Sect. 6.3), we use the metric function, given by b(r) =

 $-2\ln\left[1-\frac{2Mr}{(L_0^2+r^2)}\right]$, where we find $a(r) = -\frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\frac{L_0^2+r^2}{r_0^2}\right)$. Using the metric functions in this case, we find that the Kretschamnn scalar has a regular behavior along spacetime for any value of *r*. Also in this case it is a complete geodesic spacetime. From the analysis of the energy conditions for density and radial and tangential pressure, we see that all energy conditions are violated for very small values of *r*. While only NEC_1 , SEC_3 and DEC_2 are satisfied for very large *r*.

In Sect. 6.4 we have developed the third black-bounce solution for $\mathbb{Q} = 0$. But now we use a special case with $\Sigma(r) = \sqrt{\left(L_0^2 + r^2\right) \exp\left(\frac{r_0}{r_1^2 + r^2}\right)}$ with the metric function $b(r) = -2\ln\left[1 - 2M/\Sigma(r)\right]$, and we now have the following function $a(r) = -\frac{r_0}{2(r_1^2 + r^2)} - \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\frac{L_0^2 + r^2}{r_3^2}\right)$. This case shows that the Kretschamn scalar is regular throughout spacetime. We also highlight the geodesics where we find that spacetime is geodesically complete. The energy conditions for this model are extremely challenging, so we constructed a graph of NEC_1 to observe its behavior. On this occasion we conclude that this energy condition is satisfied. Unlike in the black-bounce case of GR, where this energy condition is violated.

We are aware of the challenges of the theory $f(\mathbb{Q})$ and that it is a theory that has only recently been formulated. On the other hand, although we find many works on this formulation, we want to use this theory to study other topics. In the future, we plan to use $f(\mathbb{Q})$ theory to study other approaches such as black hole thermodynamics, quasi-normal modes, black hole shadows, gravitational waves, applications in Kerr metrics, and perturbation theory. Moreover, we also see a possibility of using new gauges in this theory to apply in the context of black-bounce, for example.

Acknowledgements M. E. R. thanks CNPq for partial financial support. This study was supported in part by the Coordenção de Aperfeioamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brazil (CAPES) – Financial Code 001. We would also like to thank Professor Gonzalo J. Olmo for discussions that were helpful for this article.

Data Availability Statement This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: The authors confirm that there is no data related to the article, due to the research being theoretical.].

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permit-

ted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecomm ons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Funded by SCOAP³. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- C.M. Will, New general relativistic contribution to mercury's perihelion advance. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(19), 191101 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.191101
- C.M. Will, The 1919 measurement of the deflection of light. Class. Quantum Gravity 32(12), 124001 (2015). https://doi.org/ 10.1088/0264-9381/32/12/124001
- B.P. Abbott et al., Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(6), 061102 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.061102
- B.P. Abbott et al., Properties of the binary black hole merger GW150914. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(24), 241102 (2016). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.241102
- B.P. Abbott, Astrophysical implications of the binary black hole merger GW150914. Astrophys. J. Lett. 818(2), L22 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8205/818/2/L22
- B.P. Abbott et al., Binary black hole mergers in the first advanced LIGO observing run. Phys. Rev. X 6(4), 041015 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.6.041015
- L.I.G.O. Scientific et al., GW170104: observation of a 50-solarmass binary black hole coalescence at redshift 0.2. Phys. Rev. Lett. 118(22), 221101 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 118.221101
- B.P. Abbott et al., GWTC-1: a gravitational-wave transient catalog of compact binary mergers observed by LIGO and Virgo during the first and second observing runs. Phys. Rev. X 9(3), 031040 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.9.031040
- R. Abbott et al., GW190814: gravitational waves from the coalescence of a 23 solar mass black hole with a 2.6 solar mass compact object. Astrophys. J. Lett. 896(2), L44-2020 https://doi.org/10. 3847/2041-8213/ab960f
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. II. Array and instrumentation. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L1 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0ec7
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. II. Array and instrumentation. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L2 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0c96
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. III. Data processing and calibration. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L3 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0c57
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. IV. Imaging the central supermassive black hole. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L4 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0e85
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. V. Physical origin of the asymmetric ring. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L5 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0f43
- K. Akiyama et al., First M87 event horizon telescope results. VI. The shadow and mass of the central black hole. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L6 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab1141
- D. Hilbert, Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen. Math. Phys. Klasse 3, 395 (1915)
- 17. A. Einstein, W. Perrett, G. Jeffery, The foundation of the general theory of relativity. Ann. Phys. **354**(7), 769 (1916)
- I.L. Shapiro, A Primer in Tensor Analysis and Relativity (Springer, Cham, 2019)
- 19. C. Møller, Conservation laws and absolute parallelism in general relativity. Nordita Publ. **64**, 50 (1961)

- C. Pellegrini, J. Plebanski, Tetrad fields and gravitational fields. Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selskab, Mat. Fys. Skrifter 2(4) (1963)
- Y.M. Cho, Einstein Lagrangian as the translational Yang-Mills Lagrangian. Phys. Rev. D 14(10), 2521 (1976)
- F.W. Hehl et al., General relativity with spin and torsion: foundations and prospects. Rev. Mod. Phys. Am. Phys. Soc. 48, 393–416 (1976). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.48.393
- J.M. Nester, H.-J. Yo, Symmetric teleparallel general relativity (1998). https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1999ChJPh..37..113N. arXiv preprint arXiv:gr-qc/9809049
- J.B. Jiménez, L. Heisenberg, T. Koivist, Coincident general relativity. Phys. Rev. D 98(4), 044048 (2018). arXiv:1710.03116 [gr-qc]
- J.B. Jiménz, L. Heisenberg, T.S. Koivisto, The geometrical trinity of gravity. Universe 5(7), 173 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/ universe5070173
- A.G. Riess et al., Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. Astron. J. 116(3), 1009 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1086/300499
- S. Perlmutter et al., Measurements of Ω and Λ from 42 highredshift supernovae. Astrophys. J. 517(2), 565 (1999). https://doi. org/10.1086/307221
- E.J. Copeland, M. Sami, S. Tsujikawa, Dynamics of dark energy. Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15(11), 1753–1935 (2006). https://doi.org/ 10.1142/S021827180600942X
- P.J.E. Peebles, B. Ratra, The cosmological constant and dark energy. Rev. Mod. Phys. **75**(2), 559 (2003). https://doi.org/10. 1103/RevModPhys.75.559
- S. Capozziello, V. Faraoni, Beyond Einstein Gravity: A Survey of Gravitational Theories for Cosmology and Astrophysics (Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, 2010)
- S. Antoci, D.E. Liebscher, Editor's Note: On the gravitational field of a mass point according to Einstein's theory by K. Schwarzschild. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 35, 945–950 (2003). https:// doi.org/10.1023/A:1022919909683
- R. D'inverno, *Introducing Einstein's Relatvity* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1899)
- O.C. Stoica, The geometry of black hole singularities. Adv. High Energy Phys. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/907518
- J.M. Bardeen, Non-singular general-relativistic gravitational collapse, in *Proceedings of International Conference GR5* (Tbilisi, 1968). p. 174
- M.E. Rodrigues, M.V.S. Silva, Bardeen regular black hole with an electric source. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2018(06), 025 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2018/06/025
- E. Ayon-Beato, A. Garcia, Regular black hole in general relativity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics. Phys. Rev. Lett. 80(23), 5056 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.80.5056
- K.A. Bronnikov, Comment on "Regular black hole in general relativity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics". Phys. Rev. Lett. 85(21), 4641 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 85.4641
- E. Ayon-Beato, A. Garcia, New regular black hole solution from nonlinear electrodynamics. Phys. Lett. B 464(1–2), 25–29 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(00)01125-4
- E. Ayon-Beato, A. Garcia, Non-singular charged black hole solution for non-linear source. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 31(5), 629–633 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026640911319
- E. Ayón-Beato, A. Garcia, The Bardeen model as a nonlinear magnetic monopole. Phys. Lett. B 493(1–2), 149–152 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(99)01038-2
- K.A. Bronnikov, Regular magnetic black holes and monopoles from nonlinear electrodynamics. Phys. Rev. D 63(4), 044005 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.63.044005
- 42. I. Dymnikova, Regular electrically charged vacuum structures with de Sitter centre in nonlinear electrodynamics coupled to

general relativity. Class. Quantum Gravity **21**(18), 4417 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/21/18/009

- Z.-Y. Fan, X. Wang, Construction of regular black holes in general relativity. Phys. Rev. D 94(12), 124027 (2016). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.94.124027
- 44. B. Toshmatov, Z. Stuchlík, B. Ahmedov, Comment on "Construction of regular black holes in general relativity". Phys. Rev. D 98(2), 028501 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98. 028501
- E.T. Newman, A.I. Janis, Note on the Kerr spinning-particle metric. J. Math. Phys. 6(6), 915–917 (1965). https://doi.org/10.1063/ 1.1704350
- B. Toshmatov, Z. Stuchlík, B. Ahmedov, Generic rotating regular black holes in general relativity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics. Phys. Rev. D 95(8), 084037 (2017). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.95.084037
- M.E. Rodrigues, E.L.B. Junior, Comment on "Generic rotating regular black holes in general relativity coupled to nonlinear electrodynamics". Phys. Rev. D 96(12), 128502 (2017). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.96.128502
- M. Visser, Lorentzian Wormholes From Einstein to Hawking (Woodbury, 1995)
- 49. J.A. Wheeler, On the nature of quantum geometrodynamics. Ann. Phys. 2(6), 604–614 (1957). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0003-4916(57)90050-7
- C.W. Misner, J.A. Wheeler, Classical physics as geometry. Ann. Phys. 2(6), 525–603 (1957). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0003-4916(57)90049-0
- A. Einstein, N. Rosen, The particle problem in the general theory of relativity. Phys. Rev. 48(1), 73 (1935). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRev.48.73
- M.S. Morris, K.S. Thorne, Wormholes in spacetime and their use for interstellar travel: a tool for teaching general relativity. Am. J. Phys. 56(5), 395–412 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1119/1.15620
- M.S. Morris, K.S. Thorne, U. Yurtsever, Wormholes, time machines, and the weak energy condition. Phys. Rev. Lett. 61(13), 1446 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.61.1446
- J.L. Blázquez-Salcedo, C. Knoll, E. Radu, Traversable wormholes in Einstein–Dirac–Maxwell theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 126(10), 101102 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 126.101102
- J.L. Blázquez-Salcedo, C. Knoll, E. Radu, Einstein–Dirac– Maxwell wormholes: ansatz, construction and properties of symmetric solutions. Eur. Phys. J. C 82(6), 533 (2022). https://doi. org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-022-10488-6
- K.A. Bronnikov, S.-W. Kim, Possible wormholes in a brane world. Phys. Rev. D 67(6), 064027 (2003). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.67.064027
- M.S. Churilova et al., Wormholes without exotic matter: quasinormal modes, echoes and shadows. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2021(10), 010 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2021/ 10/010
- Z. Stuchlík, J. Vrba, Epicyclic orbits in the field of Einstein– Dirac–Maxwell traversable wormholes applied to the quasiperiodic oscillations observed in microquasars and active galactic nuclei. Eur. Phys. J. Plus 136, 1–15 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1140/epip/s13360-021-02078-4
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, Traversable wormholes in general relativity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 128(9), 091104 (2022). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.091104
- A. Simpson, M. Visser, Black-bounce to traversable wormhole. JCAP 02, 042 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2019/ 02/042
- F.S.N. Lobo et al., Novel black-bounce spacetimes: wormholes, regularity, energy conditions, and causal structure. Phys. Rev. D

103(8), 084052 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103. 084052

- K.A. Bronnikov, R.K. Walia, Field sources for Simpson–Visser spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D 105(4), 044039 (2022). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.105.044039
- P. Cañate, Black bounces as magnetically charged phantom regular black holes in Einstein-nonlinear electrodynamics gravity coupled to a self-interacting scalar field. Phys. Rev. D 106(2), 024031 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.106.024031
- M.E. Rodrigues, M.V.S. Silva, Source of black bounces in general relativity. Phys. Rev. D, (2023). https://journals.aps.org/prd/ accepted/c3072Qd3Nd11e13451231e11dcfa19fa31698fa04
- J. Mazza, E. Franzin, S. Liberati, A novel family of rotating black hole mimickers. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2021(04), 082 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2021/04/082
- 66. X.U. Zhaoyi, T.A.N.G. Meirong, Rotating spacetime: blackbounces and quantum deformed black hole. Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 1–8 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09635-2
- S.R. Wu et al., Echoes of charged black-bounce spacetimes. Eur. Phys. J. C 82(11), 998 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-022-10938-1
- J. Zhang, Y. Xie, Gravitational lensing by a black-bounce-Reissner–Nordström spacetime. Eur. Phys. J. C 82(5), 471 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-022-10441-7
- M.S. Churilova, Z. Stuchlik, Ringing of the regular blackhole/wormhole transition. Class. Quantum Gravity 37(7), 075014 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6382/ab7717
- 70. Y. Yang et al., Echoes of novel black-bounce spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D 104(10), 104021 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.104.104021
- E. Franzin et al., Scalar perturbations around rotating regular black holes and wormholes: quasinormal modes, ergoregion instability, and superradiance. Phys. Rev. D 105(12), 124051 (2022). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.105.124051
- 72. Y. Yang et al., Ringing and echoes from black bounces surrounded by the string cloud. Eur. Phys. J. C 83(3), 217 (2023). https://doi. org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-023-11382-5
- Z. Stuchlík, J. Vrba, Epicyclic oscillations around Simpson– Visser regular black holes and wormholes. Universe 7(8), 279 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/universe7080279
- 74. S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Introduction to modified gravity and gravitational alternative for dark energy. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 4(01), 115–145 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1142/ S0219887807001928
- T.P. Sotiriou, V. Faraoni, *f*(*R*) theories of gravity. Rev. Mod. Phys. 82(1), 451 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.82.451
- 76. A. De Felice, S. Tsujikawa, f(R) theories. Living Rev. Relativ. 13, 1–161 (2010). https://doi.org/10.12942/lrr-2010-3 https://doi.org/10.12942/lrr-2010-3
- 77. T. Clifton et al., Modified gravity and cosmology. Phys. Rep. **513**, 1 (2012)
- A.A. Starobinsky, A new type of isotropic cosmological models without singularity. Phys. Lett. B 91(1), 99–102 (1980). https:// doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(80)90670-X
- 79. T. Harko et al., f(R, T) gravity. Phys. Rev. D 84(2), 024020 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.84.024020
- M. Jamil et al., Reconstruction of some cosmological models in f(R, T) cosmology. Eur. Phys. J. C 72, 1–6 (2012). https://doi. org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-012-1999-9
- M. Sharif, M. Zubair, Energy conditions in *f*(*R*, *T*, *R*_{μν}*T*^{μν}) gravity. J. High Energy Phys. **2013**, 79 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP12(2013)079
- 82. S.D. Odintsov, D. Sáez-Gómez, $f(R, T, R_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu})$ gravity phenomenology and Λ CDM universe. Phys. Lett. B **725**(4–5), 437–444 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2013.07.026

- I. Ayuso, J.B. Jiménez, Á. De La Cruz-Dombriz, Consistency of universally nonminimally coupled f(R, T, R_{μν}T^{μν}) theories. Phys. Rev. D **91**(10), 104003 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.93.089901
- 84. M. Sharif, A. Waseem, On the stability of Einstein universe in $f(R, T, R_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu})$ gravity. Mod. Phys. Lett. A **33**(36), 1850216 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217732318502164
- 85. M.A. Abchouyeh et al., Late time dynamics of $f(R, T, R_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu})$ gravity. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. **17**(01), 2050008 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219887820500085
- 86. J.S. Gonçalves, A.F. Santos, Gödel-type solutions in $f(R, T, R_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu})$ gravity. Eur. Phys. J. C **82**(11), 979 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-022-10950-5
- K. Bamba et al., Equivalence of the modified gravity equation to the Clausius relation. Europhys. Lett. 89(5), 50003 (2010). https:// doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/89/50003
- S. Nojiri et al., Reconstruction and deceleration-acceleration transitions in modified gravity. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 42, 1997–2008 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10714-010-0977-5
- M.J.S. Houndjo et al., Exploring cylindrical solutions in modified f(G) gravity. Can. J. Phys. 92(12), 1528–1540 (2014). https:// doi.org/10.1139/cjp-2014-007
- M.E. Rodrigues et al., A type of Levi-Civita solution in modified Gauss-Bonnet gravity. Can. J. Phys. 92(2), 173–176 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1139/cjp-2013-0414
- C. Aï et al., Reconstruction method in *F*(*G*) gravity: stability study and inflationary survey. J. Mod. Phys. **12**(6), 781–797 (2021). https://doi.org/10.4236/jmp.2021.126050
- M.F. Shamir, Bouncing universe in f(G, T) gravity. Phys. Dark Universe 32, 100794 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dark.2021. 100794
- M. Ahmad, M.F. Shamir, G. Mustafa, f (G, T) gravity bouncing universe with cosmological parameters. Chin. J. Phys. 71, 770– 781 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjph.2021.04.009
- Z. Yousaf, M.Z. Bhatti, H. Aman, The bouncing cosmic behavior with logarithmic law f (G, T) model. Chin. J. Phys. **79**, 275–286 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjph.2022.07.006
- S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Modified Gauss–Bonnet theory as gravitational alternative for dark energy. Phys. Lett. B 631(1–2), 1–6 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2005.10.010
- 96. G. Cognola et al., Dark energy in modified Gauss–Bonnet gravity: late-time acceleration and the hierarchy problem. Phys. Rev. D 73(8), 084007 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.73. 084007
- A. De Felice, T. Suyama, Vacuum structure for scalar cosmological perturbations in modified gravity models. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2009(06), 034 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1475-7516/2009/06/034
- A. De Felice, S. Tsujikawa, Construction of cosmologically viable f(G) gravity models. Phys. Lett. B 675(1), 1–8 (2009). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2009.03.060
- E. Elizalde et al., ΛCDM epoch reconstruction from *F*(*R*, *G*) and modified Gauss–Bonnet gravities. Class. Quantum Gravity 27(9), 095007 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/27/9/095007
- S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou, S. Banerjee, Dynamics of inflation and dark energy from F (R, G) gravity. Nucl. Phys. B 938, 935–956 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2018. 07.013
- 101. Y.-F. Cai et al., f(T) teleparallel gravity and cosmology. Rep. Prog. Phys. 79(10), 106901 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0034-4885/79/10/106901
- 102. F. Kiani, K. Nozari, Energy conditions in $F(T, \theta)$ gravity and compatibility with a stable de Sitter solution. Phys. Lett. B **728**, 554–561 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2013.12.036

- 103. T. Harko et al., f(T, T) gravity and cosmology. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2014(12), 021 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1475-7516/2014/12/021
- 104. S.B. Nassur et al., From the early to the late time universe within f(T, T) gravity. Astrophys. Space Sci. 360, 1–14 (2015). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10509-015-2578-y
- 105. E.L.B. Junior et al., Reconstruction, thermodynamics and stability of the ΛCDM model in gravity. Class. Quantum Gravity **33**(12), 125006 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/ 33/12/125006
- 106. S. Ghosh et al., Gravastars in $f(\mathbb{T}, \mathcal{T})$ gravity. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **35**(04), 2050017 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217751X20500177
- G. Kofinas, E.N. Saridakis, Teleparallel equivalent of Gauss– Bonnet gravity and its modifications. Phys. Rev. D 90(8), 084044 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.90.084044
- 108. M.E. Rodrigues, E.L.B. Junior, Black-bounce in *f*(*T*) gravity. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. **55**(1), 1–29 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10714-022-03048-6
- 109. J.B. Jiménez et al., Cosmology in f(Q) geometry. Phys. Rev. D 101(10), 103507 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101. 103507
- 110. T. Harko et al., Coupling matter in modified *Q* gravity. Phys. Rev. D 98(8), 084043 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98. 084043
- 111. R. Solanki et al., Cosmic acceleration with bulk viscosity in modified f (Q) gravity. Phys. Dark Universe 32, 100820 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.dark.2021.100820
- 112. Y. Xu et al., *f*(*Q*, *T*) gravity. Eur. Phys. J. C **79**, 1–19 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7207-4
- 113. S. Arora et al., Constraining effective equation of state in f(Q, T) gravity. Eur. Phys. J. C **81**, 1–7 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09358-4
- 114. G.N. Gadbail, S. Arora, P.K. Sahoo, Dark energy constraint on equation of state parameter in the Weyl type f(Q, T) gravity. Ann. Phys. 169244 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aop.2023.169244
- 115. G. Mustafa et al., Wormhole solutions in symmetric teleparallel gravity. Phys. Lett. B 821, 136612 (2021). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.physletb.2021.136612
- 116. A. Banerjee et al., Wormhole geometries in f(Q) gravity and the energy conditions. Eur. Phys. J. C 81, 1–7 (2021). https://doi.org/ 10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09854-7
- 117. Z. Hassan et al., Embedding procedure and wormhole solutions in f(Q) gravity. Europhys. Lett. **139**(3), 39001 (2022). https:// doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/ac8017

- 118. F. Parsaei, S. Rastgoo, P.K. Sahoo, Wormhole in f(Q) gravity. Eur. Phys. J. Plus 137(9), 1–16 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/ epjp/s13360-022-03298-y
- M. Calzá, L. Sebastiani, A class of static spherically symmetric solutions in f (Q)-gravity (2022). https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv. 2208.13033. arXiv preprint arXiv:2208.13033
- 120. A. Chanda, B.C. Paul, Evolution of primordial black holes in f(Q) gravity with non-linear equation of state. Eur. Phys. J. C **82**(7), 616 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-022-10579-4
- 121. F. D'ambrosio et al., Black holes in f(Q) gravity. Phys. Rev. D 105(2), 024042 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.105. 024042
- 122. S. Bahamonde, L. Järv, Coincident gauge for static spherical field configurations in symmetric teleparallel gravity. Eur. Phys. J. C 82(10), 963 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-022-10922-9
- 123. D. Zhao, Covariant formulation of f(Q) theory. Eur. Phys. J. C **82**(4), 1–12 (2022)
- 124. R.-H. Lin, X.-H. Zhai, Spherically symmetric configuration in f(Q) gravity. Phys. Rev. D **103**(12), 124001 (2021). arXiv:2105.01484 [gr-qc]
- 125. C.M. Will, The confrontation between general relativity and experiment. Living Rev. Relativ. 17(1), 1–117 (2014). https://doi. org/10.12942/lrr-2014-4 https://doi.org/10.12942/lrr-2014-4
- 126. Z. Stuchlík, S. Hledík, Some properties of the Schwarzschildde Sitter and Schwarzschild-anti-de Sitter spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D 60(4), 044006 (1999). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.60. 044006
- 127. V. Faraoni, M. Lapierre-Léonard, A. Prain, Turnaround radius in an accelerated universe with quasi-local mass. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. **2015**(10), 013 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1475-7516/2015/10/013
- M.E. Rodrigues, M.V.S. Silva, Black bounces with multiple throats and anti-throats (2022). arXiv preprint arXiv:2204.11851 [gr-qc]